
 

 
 

  
  Shropshire Council 

Legal and Democratic Services 
Guildhall, 

Frankwell Quay,  
Shrewsbury  
SY3 8HQ 

   
Date:   29 August 2025 

 
 
Committee:  

Transformation and Improvement Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Date: Monday, 8 September 2025 
Time: 10.00 am 
Venue: The Council Chamber, The Guildhall, Frankwell Quay, Shrewsbury, SY3 8HQ 

  
You are requested to attend the above meeting. The Agenda is attached 

 
There will be some access to the meeting room for members of the press and public, but 
this will be limited. If you wish to attend the meeting please email 

democracy@shropshire.gov.uk to check that a seat will be available for you.  
 

Please click here to view the livestream of the meeting on the date and time stated on the 
agenda 
 

The recording of the event will also be made available shortly after the meeting on the 
Shropshire Council Youtube Channel Here 

 
Tim Collard 
Assistant Director - Legal and Governance 

 
Members of Transformation and Improvement Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

David Minnery (Chair) 
Dawn Husemann (Vice-Chair) 
Ed Bird 

Rosemary Dartnall 
Gary Groves 

Malcolm Myles-Hook 

Chris Naylor 
Charles Shackerley-Bennett 
Jon Tandy 

Beverley Waite 
Sam Walmsley 

 
 

Your Committee Officer is:  
 
Ashley Kendrick Democratic Services Officer   

Tel:   01743 250893 
Email:   ashley.kendrick@shropshire.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

mailto:democracy@shropshire.gov.uk
https://www.youtube.com/user/ShropshireCouncil/featured
https://www.youtube.com/user/ShropshireCouncil/streams


 

 

AGENDA 
 
1  Apologies  

 

 
2  Disclosable Interests  

 
Members are reminded that they must declare their disclosable pecuniary 
interests and other registrable or non-registrable interests in any matter being 

considered at the meeting as set out in Appendix B of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct and consider if they should leave the room prior to the item being 

considered. Further advice can be sought from the Monitoring Officer in advance 
of the meeting. 
 

 
3  Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 8) 

 
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 9 June 2025 
 

 
4  Public Question Time  

 
To receive any questions from members of the public.  Deadline for notification 
is 12 noon on Tuesday 2 September 2025 

 
 

5  Member Question Time  

 
To receive any questions of which members of the Council have given 

notice.  Deadline for notification is 12 noon on Tuesday 2 September 2025 
 

 
6  Financial Monitoring Report Quarter 1 2025/26  

 

To scrutinise the Financial Monitoring report for Quarter 1 and identify issues 
that may require further investigation by a scrutiny committee 

 
REPORT TO FOLLOW 
 

 
7  Financial Monitoring Period 4  

 
To scrutinise performance at Period 4 and identify issues that may require 
further investigation by an overview and scrutiny committee 

 
REPORT TO FOLLOW 

 
 



 

 

8  Performance Monitoring Report Quarter 1  2025/26  

 

To scrutinise the Performance Report and identify issues that may require 
further investigation by an overview and scrutiny committee 

 
REPORT TO FOLLOW 
 

 
9  Annual Customer Feedback (complaints) Report (Pages 9 - 56) 

 
Report attached 
 

 
10  Work Programme (Pages 57 - 58) 

 
To consider proposals for the Committee’s work programme 2025 – 2026, 
attached 

 
 

11  Date of Next Meeting  

 
17 November 2025 at 10.00 am 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 Committee and Date 

 
Transformation and 
Improvement Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee 
 

8 September 2025 

 
TRANSFORMATION AND IMPROVEMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
Minutes of the meeting held on 9 June 2025 
In the The Shrewsbury Room, The Guildhall, Frankwell Quay, Shrewsbury, SY3 8H 

10.00 am - 12.02 pm 
 

Responsible Officer:    Amanda Holyoak 

Email:  amanda.holyoak@shropshire.gov.uk      Tel:  01743 250893 
 
Present  

Councillor David Minnery (Chair) 

Councillors Dawn Husemann (Vice-Chair), Ed Bird, Rosemary Dartnall, Gary Groves, 
Malcolm Myles-Hook, Charles Shackerley-Bennett, Jon Tandy and Beverley Waite 
 
Others present at the meeting: 

Councillor Roger Evans – Portfolio Holder for Finance,  

Councillor Ruth Houghton – Portfolio Holder for Social Care 
Councillor Julian Dean – Group Leader, Green and Progressive Independent 
Claire Braddock, Scrutiny Officer, Tim Collard, Service Director – Legal and Governance, 

Tom Dodds, Scrutiny Manager, James Walton, Executive Director – Resources, Billy 
Webster, Service Director - Strategy   
 

 
1 Apologies  

 
Apologies were received from the following members of the Committee:  Councillors Chris 
Naylor and Sam Walmsley. 

 
 
2 Disclosable Interests  

 
In relation to the public question submitted, Councillor Myles-Hook reported that he had 

previously worked with Price Water House Cooper as a consultant.   
 
3 Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 11 February 2025 and 22 May 2025 were confirmed 

as a correct record.  
 
4 Public Question Time  

 
A public question was received from John Palmer asking whether the Committee would 

scrutinise the Council’s contract with Price Waterhouse Coopers.  The Chairman 
explained that it was not possible to answer the question currently, this being the first 

meeting of the committee.  The committee would be collecting and considering proposed 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes of the Transformation and Improvement Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 9 June 2025 

 

 
 
Contact: Ashley Kendrick Democratic Services Officer on 01743 250893 2 

 

topics for its attention under its work programme agenda item and would assess what to 
cover going forward based on the potential benefits. 

 
The full text of the question is available from here:  public question  

 
 
5 Member Question Time  

 
There were no questions from members.   

 
6 Performance Monitoring Report Quarter 4 2024/25  

 

The Assistant Director – Transformation introduced the report explaining the continuing 
work to refine Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) , set targets, and improve benchmarking, 

and drawing attention to the interactive dashboard.  He referenced areas of success and 
challenge and reiterated that the Council’s highest priority remained balancing the budget 
while protecting vulnerable populations. 

 
Members asked questions regarding Shropshire’s performance in timeliness of Education 

Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) and expressed concern about the backlog and the radical 
restructure in the team and the 40% deficit in staff, with those remaining being less 
experienced. The Executive Director - People explained there had been a variety of 

reasons for the reduction in staff during quarter 4 but reported that the team was now fully 
staffed with a recovery plan in place to address the backlog and at least achieve the 

England average time - of 50% completion in 20 working days by quarter 3.  There had 
been a national increase in demand for EHCPs which related to a range of complex 
issues, including the covid pandemic.  EHCPs had been suggested as a work programme 

topic for the People Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Executive Director offered 
to arrange a briefing for all councillors if this would be helpful.     

 
Members also expressed concern about the drop in performance for household waste 
sent for re-use, recycling and composting in quarter 4, and asked about impact of the 

garden waste collection charge and introduction and then cancellation of the need to book 
a timeslot for household recycling sites.  Questions were also asked about the underlying 

reasons for an increase in households in B&B accommodation and given this trend, plans 
for temporary accommodation into the future.  The Service Director said he would arrange 
responses to these questions from the relevant service manager (please see this briefing 

information at the end of the minutes) 
 

Members asked where responsibility lay for agreeing updated metrics and queried 
indicators used in the report as the definition of ‘green’ performance appeared to include 
those less than 2% below target, and some such as the rural deprivation index were 

significantly out of date.  Member discussion also covered recycling target challenges, 
positive progress in community services, and numbers in education employment or 

training.  The impact of National Insurance increases, and reasons why identified savings 
had not been achieved was also discussed.   
 

The Service Director explained that the 2% margin for reporting ‘green’ performance was 
a national standard.  He acknowledged feedback on metrics and confirmed that KPIs 

would be agreed by Cabinet going forward with input from scrutiny committees.  He 

Page 2

https://shropshire.gov.uk/committee-services/documents/b17973/Public%20Question%20-%20TI%209%20June%2025%2009th-Jun-2025%2010.00%20Transformation%20and%20Improvement%20Overview%20and%20Sc.pdf?T=9
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiMTcwZTY1MWYtYmM1Mi00M2JhLWIwNTctOTE3NjJiYWIwZjMxIiwidCI6ImI2YzEzMDExLTM3MmQtNDM4Yi1iYzgyLTY3ZTRjNzk2NmU4OSIsImMiOjh9


Minutes of the Transformation and Improvement Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 9 June 2025 

 

 
 
Contact: Ashley Kendrick Democratic Services Officer on 01743 250893 3 

 

thanked members for the useful discussion and reiterated that suggestions and feedback 
on the dashboard were welcome at any time. 

 
7 Financial Outturn 2024/25  

 
The Executive Director of Resources presented the report which provided a review of 
Shropshire Council's 2024/25 financial performance highlighting an overspend of over £34 

million due to pressures in a number of areas including children’s services, school 
transport and adult social care.  He also set out the impact of the cumulative effect of 

demand pressures, inflation, funding shortfalls, non-delivery of savings and income 
generation delays.   
 

The Executive Director answered questions from members covering a number of areas 
including: Strategic Management Board costs;’ reasons for overspends and non-

achievement and delays in making savings; costs associated with voluntary redundancies; 
the Dedicated Schools Grant; ringfencing of the Housing Revenue Account and 
complications around identification of statutory services and discretionary services;  

 
The new Portfolio Holder for Finance said that £47.2m of the £90m of savings identified for 

2024 – 25 had been achieved, which meant that £42m had been rolled on to the 2025-26 
financial year and a total of £60m of savings would be required. 
 

The Chairman highlighted the need for scrutiny committees to be proactive and look in 
more depth at areas consistently overspending and at the reasons for non-achievement of 

savings to ensure scrutiny attention was adding value and best use was made of 
committee time.     
 
8 Financial Monitoring Period 1  

 

The Executive Director – Resources summarised the period 1 report which gave a very 
early view of the Council’s financial position and highlighted savings of £60m, a projected 
overspend of £13.884m and forecast a small positive general fund balance of £349,000 at 

year end.  It was noted that an authority of this size should have a have a general fund 
balance of between £10m to £20m 

 
During discussion of the report, members emphasised the need for continued openness 
and early access to financial reports to allow scrutiny committees and members to identify 

issues and contribute to solutions in good time before cabinet decisions were made. The 
offer to make reports available via the Members Gateway as soon as they were ready was 

welcomed.   
 
Challenges around delivery of non-statutory services; contract arrangements, budget 

constraints and external factors outside of the control of the council were discussed.   It 
was noted that effective communication strategies would be needed to manage public 

expectations and explain the rationale behind financial decisions, such as revenue-
generating measures that may initially be unpopular but were necessary for financial 
stability. 

,  
The report was noted and it was agreed that continuous monitoring and early action on 

emerging issues would be crucial for effective budget management. 

Page 3



Minutes of the Transformation and Improvement Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 9 June 2025 

 

 
 
Contact: Ashley Kendrick Democratic Services Officer on 01743 250893 4 

 

 
 
9 Member Bullying & Harassment  

 

Councillor Ruth Houghton, Chair of the Task and Finish Group on Member Bullying and 
Harassment, reported on the work undertaken by the Group .  She expressed gratitude to 
the members of the council who had shared personal experiences of harassment, some of 

which had been very disturbing, these had helped understand the nature and extent of the 
problem. Police colleagues had also been involved in the work which had been very 

helpful and helped inform its findings and recommendations.   
 
The Group had developed a new protocol and flowchart for use by members and had 

made it available on the Member Gateway so that it was accessible in time for the lead up 
to the election in May.  Continued collaboration with the police was essential to ensure 

there was awareness of any wider issues. 
 
In discussion, the committee raised the balance of being accessible as a councillor to the 

public whilst keeping safe and risks predominantly experienced by female councillors.  It 
was also agreed to adjust the flowchart to clarify the points of contact system for reporting 

an incident.   
 
The Chairman and committee members thanked Cllr Houghton, and all who participated in 

the Task and Finish Group for an excellent piece of work.  The Committee endorsed the 
report and recommendations within it and agreed to review progress on a regular basis to 

ensure that any new learning is captured.     
 
 
10 Work Programme  

 

The Committee considered proposals for the future work programme and agreed it should 
include follow ups on previous recommendations to monitor implementation. It would be 
important that all committees cross-referenced activity to avoid duplication.   

 
Areas suggested for the work programme included:  use of consultants – costs and 

benefits; planning enforcement; use of artificial intelligence and digital transformation to 
maximise efficiency; transport; waste management and community infrastructure.  These 
would be considered outside of the meeting and proposals narrowed down for discussion 

at the next meeting.   
 

 

 
11 Date of Next Meeting  

 
8 September 2025. 

 
 
Signed  (Chairman) 

 
 

Date:  

  

Page 4



Minutes of the Transformation and Improvement Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 9 June 2025 

 

 
 
Contact: Ashley Kendrick Democratic Services Officer on 01743 250893 5 

 

 
 
Questions raised at the meeting requiring  follow up response: 
 

 

Link to the dashboard: Microsoft Power BI 
Question  

HEn6 % of household waste sent for re-use, recycling and composting 
Waste missed target by 6% latest quarter and dropped by 12% between Q2 and Q3- very 

concerning match it with the cost of the garden waste we all knew would cause a problem, 
then with booking of the recycling centres people have not gone back to putting their 
waste where it should be. Is there any move to sort this out before it becomes even 

worse? 

 
Service Response 

The reported figure was for Q3 2024/25 at 45.6%. The Q4 24/25 figures were finalised w/c 

23 June 2025 and are newly reported below:  
Percentage of household waste sent for re-use, recycling, and composting: 
 **Q4 24/25: 43.73% 

**Q3 24/25: 46.47% 
 **Q2 24/25: 58.61% 

 **Q1 24/25: 59.76% 
Whilst our latest quarterly figures for Q3 and Q4 are below target of 52.6%, our 

performance year to date is 53.10% (Q1-Q4 2024-25), exceeding the target. 

We will continue to monitor our rates through our monthly contract meetings as the full 
impact of the implementation of the chargeable garden waste service will not be known 

until September.  
The option to present food waste within the garden waste bins was previously 

implemented in Shrewsbury, North Shropshire, and South Shropshire and part of the 
original contract specification however, this was removed with the introduction of the 
garden waste subscription. Food waste is now collected within the general waste bin for all 

residents although the amount that had been collected with the garden waste was not 
recorded and has had very little impact on our recycling levels. 

 
Question 

HEc18 Reduction in households in B&B accommodation 

B&Bs why is this increasing, what is the underlying reason for this? what type of issues 
are people facing? 

Given the trend do we have any additional plans for temporary accommodation? 

Page 5

https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiMTcwZTY1MWYtYmM1Mi00M2JhLWIwNTctOTE3NjJiYWIwZjMxIiwidCI6ImI2YzEzMDExLTM3MmQtNDM4Yi1iYzgyLTY3ZTRjNzk2NmU4OSIsImMiOjh9


Minutes of the Transformation and Improvement Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 9 June 2025 

 

 
 
Contact: Ashley Kendrick Democratic Services Officer on 01743 250893 6 

 

 
Service Response 

B&B numbers are not increasing, there has been a reduction from 90 to 69 quarter on 
quarter. The reason this is an exception is because this is higher than we expected them 

to be at this point in time.  We have significantly reduced the number of placements in 
B&B over the past 6 months and have a number of projects in the pipeline to reduce this 

further.  Listed below. 
 

 
  TA Units B&B 

02 May 2022 99 198 

02 September 2022 98 189 

04 November 2022 107 158 

06 January 2023 121 144 

03 March 2023 129 156 

05 May 2023 150 121 

07 July 2023 149 109 

01 September 2023 143 101 

03 November 2023 141 118 

05 January 2024 126 121 

01 March 2024 148 107 

03 May 2024 151 131 

05 July 2024 144 106 

06 September 2024 150 102 

01 November 2024 147 98 

03 January 2025 140 93 

Page 6



Minutes of the Transformation and Improvement Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 9 June 2025 

 

 
 
Contact: Ashley Kendrick Democratic Services Officer on 01743 250893 7 

 

07 March 2025 210 70 

02 May 2025 196 68 

 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



T&I Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 8 September 2025:  Annual Customer Feedback Report 2024/25 

Contact:  Claire Braddock 01743 258913 1 
 

 Transformation and 
Improvement Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 
Date 8th September 2025 

 Item 
 
 
 
Public 

 

 

 

  

 

 

Annual Customer Feedback Report 2024/25 
Responsible Officer: Tim Collard 

email: Tim.Collard@shropshire.gov.uk Tel:  01743 252756 

Committee Chair: David Minnery 

 
 
1. Synopsis 

 
This report presents the Annual Customer Feedback Report 2024/25 to the 
Transformation and Improvement Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The report was 
considered by Cabinet in July and a second report is due to be presented to Cabinet in 
October setting out more detailed information regarding the Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling Code (‘the Code’). The annual report 
included a self-assessment against the Code (attached as Appendix 1).  

 
2. Executive Summary 

 
2.1 The Annual Customer Feedback Report 2024/25 sets out key performance 

information relating to the way Shropshire Council manages its complaints 
processes (see Appendix 1). This report summarises that performance in the 
context of the Complaint Handling Code introduced by the Local Government 
and Social Care Ombudsman for implementation by the end of March 2026. 
The report highlights requirements set out within the Code, including the 
difference between current and future resource needs, and emphasises the 
importance of Overview & Scrutiny in overseeing complaint handling 
performance. 

 
2.2 The Code applies to complaints without statutory processes and promotes 

annual reporting and scrutiny to ensure transparency and accountability. Non-
compliance with the code will be publicly highlighted by the Ombudsman from 
April 2026.  Organisations must publish an annual complaints performance and 

Page 9

Agenda Item 9



T&I Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 8 September 2025:  Annual Customer Feedback Report 2024/25 

Contact:  Claire Braddock 01743 258913 2 
 

service improvement report, including responses from the Member responsible 
for complaints, demonstrating oversight and accountability.   

 
2.3 Shropshire Council completed a self-assessment against the Code in July, with 

a detailed action plan and further updates planned for October, addressing 
significant changes required by the Code.   

 
2.4 Members are encouraged by the Ombudsman to oversee work to analyse 

complaint trends, resource adequacy, and public access to complaints 
processes. The Code emphasises that high complaint numbers may indicate an 
accessible process, whereas low numbers could suggest barriers and 
discourages the setting of targets. However new Key Performance Indicators 
have been produced by the Ombudsman and aim to improve benchmarking at 
the earlier stages of complaints processes. 

 
2.5 The Code sets response times to encourage prompt handling. It suggests that 

the Member Responsible for Complaints should review response rates and 
encourage officers responsible for complaints (those responsible within service 
areas and those overseeing the complaints process) to work to address any 
trends and patters within complaints as they arise to ensure a focus on ongoing 
service improvement. A particular focus within the Code is improvement in the 
way actions and learnings are recorded and work to encourage early resolution 
and remedy.   

 
3. Officer Recommendations  
 
3.1. Members are asked to review Shropshire Council’s current performance in 

relation to complaint handling and the performance improvements that will be 
required before the end of March 2026. 

 
3.2. Members are asked to consider the requirements and related challenges 

associated with the Code’s implementation and make any suggestions and 
recommendations for the report to Cabinet in October. 

 
3.3. Members are asked to support the requirement within the Code for Overview 

and Scrutiny of complaints handling processes and plan future Scrutiny of this 
item. 

 

Report 
 
4. Financial Implications 

 
4.1. Investment is required to enable Shropshire Council to implement and comply 

with the Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling Code (this will be a mix of staff 
resource and small budget allocation to produce resources and deliver training). 
A detailed action plan has been produced highlighting required resources, and 
this will be shared internally with the Leadership Board for consideration. This 
more detailed work can be shared more widely if required. 
 

Page 10



T&I Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 8 September 2025:  Annual Customer Feedback Report 2024/25 

Contact:  Claire Braddock 01743 258913 3 
 

5. Climate Change Appraisal 
 

5.1. There are no direct effects on the council’s climate change agenda.  
 

 
6. Background 

 
6.1. The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s (LGSCO) Complaint 

Handling Code has been issued as “advice and guidance” for all local councils 
in England under section 23(12A) of the Local Government Act 1974. The 
Ombudsman has asked local authorities to start applying the Code as soon as 
possible and to ensure implementation by the end of March 2026. The Code 
only applies to complaints where there is no statutory process in place. From 
1st April non-compliance will be highlighted by the Ombudsman within 
investigations and public reports.  

 
6.2. The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling 

Code (Paragraph 8.1) states: 
 

“Organisations should produce an annual complaints performance and service 
improvement report for scrutiny and challenge” 
 

6.3. The Code states that the annual complaints performance and service 
improvement report should be published on the organisation’s website. This 
should include the response to the report from the Member responsible for 
complaints. This demonstrates to the public that complaints about the 
organisation are subject to scrutiny and that statutory officers are being held 
accountable for performance. 

 
6.4. Members are not expected to have any direct involvement in individual 

complaints, but they are encouraged to use learning from the complaints 
process to support their scrutiny and oversight work. 

 
6.5. As part of annual reporting, local authorities are asked to complete a self-

assessment to demonstrate compliance with the code. Shropshire Council 
presented a self-assessment within the annual Customer Feedback Report 
covered within Cabinet’s meeting in July (attached as Appendix 1).  

 
6.6. The Ombudsman Code requires significant changes across a number of areas. 

A detailed action plan has been produced and a summary of the main areas of 
activity will be presented to Cabinet in October. 

 
6.7. Organisations are strongly discouraged from setting targets in relation to 

complaint handling as this can result in officers focusing meeting these rather 
than providing a good outcome to the complaint. However, the Ombudsman 
does recommend use of a new set of Key Performance Indicators. These 
indicators will require some changes to the way Shropshire Council collects and 
reports complaints data. Work to introduce the KPIs is set out within the detailed 
Code implementation plan.  

 
6.8. Whilst the new KPIs are not yet in place. They cover:  

Page 11



T&I Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 8 September 2025:  Annual Customer Feedback Report 2024/25 

Contact:  Claire Braddock 01743 258913 4 
 

o Number of complaints received. 
o Timeliness 
o Outcomes 
o Learning from complaints and remedies 

These are all featured within the Annual Customer Feedback Report, however, to 
assist Scrutiny information is provided on each below. 

 
 
7. Performance 

 
Number of complaints received 
 
7.1. The Complaint Handling Code states: 

“High volumes of complaints should not be seen as a negative, as they can be 
indicative of a well-publicised and accessible complaints process.  Low 
complaint volumes are potentially a sign that individuals are unable to 
complain.” 
 

7.2 Members are encouraged to consider any increases or decreases in complain 
numbers and in individual service areas and also to check that complaints are not 
being excluded from the complaints process, denying people an opportunity to 
have their complaint heard. 

 
7.3 Shropshire Council’s way of working aligns with the Code by allowing choice 

within the method of making a complaint (telephone, email, online formal, letter 
etc.). Although online methods of promoting the complaint process are dominant, 
leaflets and alternatives are also available.  

 
7.4 Within the year 2024/25 Shropshire Council received and recorded 3,079 cases of 

formal feedback (2,386 initial complaint cases, 245 comments and 448 
compliments). There were 2,629 cases in the previous year, and this equates to a 
17% increase. The number of complaint investigations do not show the same 
increase with little change (978 in 2023/24 and 952 in 2024/25). It should be noted 
that one case may result in no complaint investigation if the complaint is excluded 
from the process, or in multiple investigations if the complaint covers multiple 
service areas or types of issue. 

 
7.5 Exclusions data shown below in Table 1 highlights that a significant number of 

people attempted to raise complaints anonymously (398 of the 725 exclusions). 
Anonymous complaints cannot be investigated. 66 could be resolved immediately 
and cases were also raised as complaints when they required handling under a 
different process. This highlights that there is a need to improve initial triage within 
Shropshire Council to ensure that as many initial contacts as possible are 
addressed as service requests and complaints are not raised as an initial form of 
contact. 

 
7.6 There has been a 55% increase in customer feedback from 2016/17 but the 

resources allocated to manage the processes have not changed within this 
timeframe. Investigation numbers remain similar to last year, but it is likely that this 
could be partially influenced by a lack of capacity to manage more investigations 
than any reduction in demand for complaints (where at all possible, an issue will 

Page 12



T&I Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 8 September 2025:  Annual Customer Feedback Report 2024/25 

Contact:  Claire Braddock 01743 258913 5 
 

be raised for service action unless there is initial suggestion of fault requiring 
formal investigation). Benchmarking with other local authorities pre-introduction of 
the Code (2021/22 data) highlighted that team sizes were generally much larger in 
other similar local authority areas. Average case load per complaints officer per 
year in Shropshire was, at that time, 282 complaints compared to an average of 
118 for 8 other similar local authorities we undertook research with. This equates 
to 138% more cases per officer. The Ombudsman recommends that issues like 
this are considered within scrutiny of complaints processes (including by Overview 
& Scrutiny committees) and reflected within the annual self-assessment process. 

Table 1 – Exclusions (complaints cases not investigated) 

Cases not accepted as formal complaints for investigation Early 
Closure Reason  

Count % 

Immediate Resolution  66 9.1 
No Further Action Required  10 1.4 
Anonymous Case/ insufficient detail to investigate  398 54.9 
Call Abandoned  2 0.3 
Customer withdrew complaint/ Customer didn't respond  22 3.0 
Failed to Provide Consent  10 1.4 
Outside Jurisdiction  94 13.0 
Other Organisation to respond  2 0.3 
Logged In Error  3 0.4 
Disciplinary and Grievance Procedures  10 1.4 
Housing Benefit Appeal  1 0.1 
Insurance Claim  59 8.1 
Licensing Decision Appeal  3 0.4 
Penalty Charge Notice  4 0.6 
Planning Enforcement Appeal  1 0.1 
Planning Permission Appeal  4 0.6 
Special Educational Needs (SEN) Tribunals  1 0.1 
Police Investigation - Criminal  1 0.1 
Outside Timeframe/Old (12 months)  9 1.2 
Service request/ premature/ created in error  25 3.4 
Total  725 100 

7.7 The annual report also covers complaint numbers by service (note this was prior to 
council restructuring). Chart 1 displays the results for 2024/25. Legal and 
Democratic Service numbers are high to reflect the fact that both the Feedback and 
Insight Team and Complaints Monitoring Officer (undertaking stage 2 corporate 
reviews) are located within that area of the council. 

7.8 Highways and Transport complaints traditionally form a large proportion of all 
complaints and in 2024/25 formed 14% of all Shropshire Council’s complaints (an 
increase from 12% in 2023/24 but an improvement on the 19% in 2022/23 and 27% 
in 2021/22). Waste services complaints have also fluctuated slightly from 14% in 
2022/23 to 6% in 2023/24 and 9% in 2024/25. These are services used by all 
residents. Revenues and Benefits received a significant proportion of complaints at 
5% similar to the last year. Planning Services complaints formed 5% (the same 
proportion as the previous year). Some service areas with slightly higher volumes of 
complaints reflect the national picture across other local authorities. Children’s 
social work case management, SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disabilities) 
and adult social care complaints are among areas of service nationally where there 
are growing demands and pressures leading to complaints. 

Page 13



T&I Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 8 September 2025:  Annual Customer Feedback Report 2024/25 

Contact:  Claire Braddock 01743 258913 6 
 

7.9 Another indicator linked to complaint numbers is the progression of complaints (see 
Annual Report Section 4). Effective stage 1 complaint handling can reduce the 
number of stage 2 complaints, however over recent years there has been a steady 
increase in complaints progressing beyond stage 1 (an 11.6% increase since 
2023/24). 

Chart 1 - Complaint numbers by service area 

 

Timeliness 

7.10 The new timescales for responding to complaints set out in the Code are intended 
to encourage prompt and efficient complaint handling. The average time for 
responding to complaints should indicate how often the organisation is responding 
promptly to complaints. The LGCSO has suggested this is reported as the % of 

0 50 100 150

Children’s Case Management

Children’s Social Care and Safeguarding

Children's Services

Early Help, Partnerships and Commissioning

Learning & Skills

Adult Services Business Support & Development

Social Care Operations - Community

Social Care Operations - Hospital Interface

Social Care Operations -Mental Health

Health, Wellbeing and Prevention

Public Health - Non-Ringfenced

Business and Consumer Protection

Culture Leisure and Tourism

Director of Place

Planning

Economy and Place Other

Highways

Housing Services

Homes and Communities

Parking contravention Notice (PCN) Processing (after the…

Waste

Place Other

Property Services Group

Shire Services

Communications and Engagement

Revenues and Benefits

Finance, Governance & Assurance Other

Legal and Democratic Services

Strategic Management

Complaint investigations by unit 2024/25

Page 14



T&I Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 8 September 2025:  Annual Customer Feedback Report 2024/25 

Contact:  Claire Braddock 01743 258913 7 
 

total complaints at each stage (and that the measure is also applied to statutory 
complaints processes). 

 
7.11 The table below illustrates the timescale changes required and the significant 

reduction compared to existing processes: 
 
Table 2 - Timescales 
 

Process Shropshire Council’s current 
corporate complaints 
timescales 

Ombudsman’s Complaint 
Handling Code timescales 

Stage 1 acknowledgement 5 working days 5 working days 
Stage 1 response 30 working days 10 working days 
Stage 1 extension Not applicable 10 working days 
Stage 2 acknowledgement 5 working days 5 working days 
Stage 2 response 30 working days 20 working days 
Stage 2 extension Not applicable 20 working days 

 
7.12 During 2024/25 Shropshire Council took an average of 23 working days to respond 

to stage 1 corporate complaints (exceeding the new Code stage 1 timescale). Only 
27% of stage 1 corporate complaints are currently responded to within the 
Ombudsman’s 10 working days timescale, compared to 72% against the Council’s 
current 30-day timescale. 

 
7.13 More detailed analysis of timescales highlights that the service areas responding to 

complaints most promptly include (Independent Living, Welfare & Reform, Finance 
and Trading Standards & Licensing). The service areas with the longest average 
response times are Highways, Building Control, Development Control and Council 
Tax Payments. Please note this excludes services that miss social care statutory 
complaints timescales). 

 
7.14 The average for stage 2 reviews has been within the current 30 day timescale (at 

28 working days) but may now need to be reduced in line with new timescales. 
However, it should be noted that stage 2 complaints will have a 20 initial day 
timescale with a 20 additional day extension for complex cases or where there is 
another acceptable reason for extension. 

 
7.15 Before the end of March 2026 there is work required to change the way timeliness 

is reported in line with the new Key Performance indicators included within the 
Code. Rather than averages alone, the timescale KPIs to be introduced are: 

 
a. % accepted complaints responded to within 15 working days at stage 1 
b. % accepted complaints responded to within 25 working days at stage 2 

Outcomes 

7.16 The outcomes of complaints are an important measure of the quality of complaint 
handling in an organisation and data can be used to identify areas where repeat 
findings may indicate wider issues which need to be addressed. 

7.17 Under the Code a new outcome is being introduced (in addition to Upheld, Partially 
Upheld and Not Upheld): Resolved. The definition for resolved is quoted below. 

Page 15



T&I Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 8 September 2025:  Annual Customer Feedback Report 2024/25 

Contact:  Claire Braddock 01743 258913 8 
 

Allowing organisations to record complaints as “resolved” supports prompt 
proportionate responses to complaints. Although service areas are already 
encouraged to try to resolve issues raised within a complaint while the investigation 
is ongoing, this will require significant changes in the way complaints are viewed 
and handled within service areas. 

“The organisation was able to agree action it should take with the complainant to 
resolve the complaint and did not have to investigate further to decide whether it 
acted with fault” 

7.18 Of the closed stage 1 complaints 22% were upheld (160 complaints), 23% were 
partially upheld and 42% were not upheld. The proportion of upheld complaints in 
2024/25 was less than in 2023/24 (27%). Performance is relatively steady overall. It 
would be a concern if performance monitoring highlighted too few cases being 
upheld (it is important that Shropshire Council accepts where things have gone 
wrong and strives for improvement). 

Chart 2 – Outcomes of stage 2 investigations 
 

 

7.19 However, as the Annual Customer Feedback Report highlights, there are some 
service areas with greater upheld rates indicating areas of pressure. Considering 
the complaints that were upheld (all stages closed within the year), 21% were with 
Highways and Transport (a significant improvement compared to 2021/22 at 32% 
but more than the 17% in 2023/24). 18% were for Special Educational Needs and 
Disability within Learning and Skills, 14% Adult Social Care Operations - 
Community and 9% were with Waste Management. Although in smaller numbers, 
there were also a higher proportion of upheld cases for Adult Services Business 
Support (linked to charges for care (7%) and Customer Services (5%)). 

Learning from complaints and remedies 

7.20 Within the new Code, the LGSCO highlights that remedies should be provided 
within timescales provided to complainants. Failure to do this may lead to further 
complaints and a decrease in the level of trust between the individual and the 
organisation. All complaint investigators are asked to include clear actions and 
learning where fault has been found (a complaint us upheld or partially upheld). 
The Annual Customer Feedback Report includes sections on learning and actions 
with overall data and examples. However, the Code suggests the current approach 
is not robust enough. The Code states: 

311, 42%

171, 23%

160, 22%

16, 2%
14, 2% 64, 9%

Outcome of stage 1 investigations 2024/25

Not Upheld Partially Upheld Upheld No Finding Service Request not Complaint Withdrawn

Page 16



T&I Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 8 September 2025:  Annual Customer Feedback Report 2024/25 

Contact:  Claire Braddock 01743 258913 9 
 

“Service improvements are difficult to quantify. Therefore, organisations are encouraged 
to provide qualitative data summarising the types of service improvements achieved as a 
result of learning from complaints. This may include learning from complaints data as 
well as individual complaints. If a particular service area has not recorded any service 
improvements this may warrant further scrutiny.” 

7.21 Shropshire Council recorded learning, action or outcome notes against 705 
complaints in 2024/25 (and 138 of those included detailed actions or lessons). 
Currently around 40% of all partly upheld or upheld closed cases have learning 
recorded and this will need to be an area of focused improvement in order to 
comply with the requirements set out within the Code.  

 
8. Ombudsman Data and Benchmarking 

 
8.1 The Annual Customer Feedback Report covers the annually reported findings of 

the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman. The Ombudsman’s annual 
report highlighted that 79 complaints were received by the Ombudsman for 
Shropshire Council in 2024/25 and 31 cases were considered/decided (15 of those 
with an outcome). Of the 15 cases investigated with outcomes, 9 were upheld, 6 
were not upheld. Many of the total 79 considered resulted in other actions such as 
referring back for local resolution, offering advice, or closure after initial enquiries. 

 
8.2 The Ombudsman reports Shropshire Council’s upheld rate at 60%. The LGO 

upheld rate for similar local authorities is reported as 80%. 
 
8.3  Information reported by the Ombudsman since the publication of Shropshire 

Council’s annual report, allows for some further benchmarking with other local 
authorities. Charts 3, 4 and 5 display how Shropshire Council compares to similar 
local authorities within the Chartered Institute of Public Finance Accountancy 
(CIPFA) statistical neighbours group. The charts cover total number of complaints, 
upheld rate and complaints per 100,000 population. 

 
Chart 3 – Benchmarking data for total complaints 
 

 
Chart shows total number of complaints considered by the Ombudsman in 2024/25 for each local authority. 

28

75

146

78

196

89
75

59 66

109
79

65 72 69
45

78

0

50

100

150

200

250

Total complaints decided

Page 17



T&I Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 8 September 2025:  Annual Customer Feedback Report 2024/25 

Contact:  Claire Braddock 01743 258913 10 
 

 
Chart 4 – Benchmarking data for upheld rate 
 

 
Chart shows proportion of complaints upheld by the Ombudsman in 2024/25 for each local authority 
(relatively small numbers means % can fluctuate significantly each year). 
 
Chart 5 – Benchmarking data for rate per population 
 

 
Chart shows the number of complaints considered by the Ombudsman per 100,000 residents.  
 
8.4 The benchmarking data available suggests that Shropshire Council is currently 

performing well within its group of statistical neighbours. The upheld rate was the 
lowest within the group, and the rate of complaints per 100,000 population is the 
lowest reported rate (the same as Cheshire West & Chester and North Somerset). 
The number of complaints considered by the Ombudsman is probably the most 

100%
88%

75% 77%
88%

78%
71% 73% 75%

83%

60%

89% 83%
74%

83% 86%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Upheld rate (%)

3.5

4.9
5.8

2.7

8.5

4.0

6.3

7.8

2.7

4.6

2.7

7.3

3.3

4.7

2.4
3.5

0.0
1.0
2.0
3.0
4.0
5.0
6.0
7.0
8.0
9.0

Upheld decisions per 100,000 residents

Page 18



T&I Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 8 September 2025:  Annual Customer Feedback Report 2024/25 

Contact:  Claire Braddock 01743 258913 11 
 

meaningful indicator and that number is slightly below the average (83). The results 
possibly suggest that more complaints are reaching the Ombudsman than they 
should be. The Code’s emphasis on early resolution is designed to reduce these 
numbers. 

 
9. Reporting and Member Roles 
 

9.1 The Code states “It is considered good practice for the Member Responsible for 
Complaints to have access to performance data about all complaints received by 
the organisation, even complaints not covered by the Code, such as those about 
adult social care and children’s services. This provides the Member with an 
overview of complaint handling performance across the organisation”. Quarterly 
reports are shared with the portfolio holder. These will be changed in time to better 
align with the new KPIs set out alongside the Code but are a useful indicator of 
performance. 

 
9.2 There are new requirements within the Code that will require significant additional 

work. The Code describes that the Member Responsible for Complaints should 
have access to anonymised customer feedback information about complaint 
handling in the organisation. This could be in the form of responses to surveys or a 
summary of positive and negative comments received from complainants. 
Organisations are also encouraged to ask staff for feedback about their 
experiences of the complaints process. Members should also have access to this 
anonymised feedback. These new requirements are set out within the Code 
implementation action plan developed by the Feedback and Insight Team. Once in 
place this new source of information could be a helpful source for future Scrutiny of 
the complaints processes by Overview and Scrutiny committees. 
 

9.3  In addition to a Guide for members responsible for complaints: Effective scrutiny of 
complaint systems the Local Government and Social Care has also published 
information for members undertaking Scrutiny across a wide range of service 
areas. This contains Scrutiny Questions by service area/function. A theme the 
Ombudsman sees within its work is presented, followed by possible questions the 
Ombudsman suggests Members can use to better understand the service locally 
and how improvements may be identified. 

10. Conclusions 
 

10.1. In conclusion, the Annual Customer Feedback Report for 2024/25 highlights the 
importance of implementing the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling Code. The report details current 
performance and highlights the need for continuous improvement in complaint 
handling processes and the need for effective resource allocation to meet the 
Code's requirements.  
 

10.2. The self-assessment against the Code, presented within Appendix 1, 
demonstrates our commitment to transparency and accountability. As we move 
forward, it is crucial to address the challenges associated with increased 
demands from customers and the requirements set out within the Code against 
a backdrop of resource limitations.  

 

Page 19

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/information-for-organisations-we-investigate/councils/guidance-notes/guide-for-members-responsible-for-complaints-effective-scrutiny-of-complaint-systems?chapter=7#Performance+reporting+and+selfassessment
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/information-for-organisations-we-investigate/councils/guidance-notes/guide-for-members-responsible-for-complaints-effective-scrutiny-of-complaint-systems?chapter=7#Performance+reporting+and+selfassessment
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/scrutiny-questions


T&I Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 8 September 2025:  Annual Customer Feedback Report 2024/25 

Contact:  Claire Braddock 01743 258913 12 
 

10.3. In relation to the future the role of Overview & Scrutiny, the Elected Member 
Responsible for Complaints and officer management and oversight are all 
important to ensure that the new Key Performance Indicators are effectively 
integrated into our reporting processes and the performance of the complaints 
processes are understood in a way that focuses on improvement. The 
upcoming report, to be presented to Cabinet in October, will provide further 
insights into the steps being taken to enhance our complaint handling 
capabilities.  

 
 
11. Recommendations 

 
11.1 The Annual Customer Feedback Report 2024/25 includes 16 recommendations 

for Shropshire Council to consider and implement within the year ahead. Many 
of these actions require wider organisational commitment and results cannot be 
influenced solely by the complaints officers within the Feedback and Insight 
Team or others with roles in the complaints processes such as the Complaints 
Monitoring Officer. The recommendations cover areas such as: 

 
• Managing complaints performance (numbers, timeliness and quality). 
• Improving a focus on outcomes, actions and learning from complaints to drive 

service improvement. 
• Core work to implement the Code including the development of a new 

complaints procedure and supporting guidance (including a Remedies Policy 
and guidance on reasonable adjustments).  

• Communications work with staff and members of the public. 
• Work to implement new requirements related to third-party provider complaints 

(commissioned services). 
• A focus on managing the most complex cases and taking action when 

unreasonable and persistent customer behaviour is identified. 
 
11.2 In addition to acknowledging the recommendations made within the annual 

report, Members are asked to consider: 
 

• Whether current strategic oversight of complaints functions is adequate to 
deliver the Code. 

• Whether the level of resources available to Shropshire Council threaten 
implementation, and any recommendations for managing the challenges faced 
due to the significant increased work the Code presents for officers. (Code 
implementation is not supported by any national funding for local authorities). 

• Whether there are opportunities for other Overview and Scrutiny committees to 
incorporate a customer handling and complaints focus into their work. 

• Whether there are opportunities for changing the way complaints are viewed 
within the organisation, to understand the value of complaint information, and 
to support the Ombudsman’s aim of achieving a positive complaints handling 
culture. 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 20



T&I Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 8 September 2025:  Annual Customer Feedback Report 2024/25 

Contact:  Claire Braddock 01743 258913 13 
 

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does 
not include items containing exempt or confidential information) 

Shropshire Council Customer Feedback Annual Report 2020/21, 2021/22, 2022/23, 
2023/24, 2024/25. 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Alex Wagner 

Local Member:  N/A 

Appendices:  
Appendix 1: Annual Customer Feedback Report 2024/25 

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

  

Customer Feedback Annual Report 
Shropshire Council 
2024/25 
 
Feedback and Insight Team, Shropshire Council 
June 2025 

Page 23



2 
 

Contents 
 
 

 Page 
 

1. Introduction 
 

3 

2. The corporate complaints process 
 

4 

3. Customer Feedback 2024/25 
 

5 

4. Progression of Complaints 
 

13 

5. Annual Comparisons 
 

15 

6. Example compliments 
 

16 

7. Example complaints 
 

17 

8. Learning and Actions 
 

18 

9. Example Learning and Actions 
 

19 

10. Conclusions 
 

20 

11. Progress Update 
 

21 

12. Ombudsman Code 
 

23 

13. Code Self-Assessment 
 

24 

14. Recommendations 
 

30 

15. Appendix 1  
Ombudsman Annual Letter 2024/25 
 

32 

16. Appendix 2 
Ombudsman Recommendations 2024/25 

24 

 
 

  

Page 24



3 
 

1. Introduction 
 
 
Shropshire Council’s annual customer feedback report presents an overview of the formal 
feedback received, and responded to, by Shropshire Council between 1 April 2024 and 31 March 
2025. The report includes performance data for complaints, compliments and comments. The 
annual customer feedback report is made available to members of the public, councillors and 
council staff. The report complements the quarterly reporting and regular service-based monitoring 
reporting that takes place during the year. This more regular reporting is used to gain an 
understanding of customer experiences and the identification of any patterns in feedback. It 
supports the work that takes place to identify learning and actions designed to prevent further 
complaints and generate improvement. 
 
This report also covers additional reporting requirements set out by the Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman within the Complaints Handling Code published in 2024. The Complaint 
Handling Code ('the Code’), sets out guidance for a process for organisations that will allow them 
to respond to complaints effectively and fairly. The purpose of the Code is to enable organisations 
to resolve complaints raised by individuals promptly, and to use the data and learning from 
complaints to drive service improvements. The Ombudsman also hopes the Code will help to 
create a positive complaint handling culture amongst staff and individuals. The Code does not 
replace any existing statutory complaint processes such as The Children Act 1989 
Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 2006 or Local Authority Social Services and 
National Health Service Complaints (England) Regulations 2009. The Ombudsman has issued the 
Code as “advice and guidance” for all local councils in England under section 23(12A) of the Local 
Government Act 1974. Local compliance will be assessed in Ombudsman findings from April 2026. 
 
Complaints containing an element of social care fall under the statutory guidelines. These are 
classed as statutory complaints for either adult or children’s services and are handled in line with 
the national statutory complaint procedures. The remainder of complaints are corporate 
complaints. Corporate complaints relate to administration or other types of services that do not 
provide social care. These are handled under the Council’s corporate complaints procedure, set 
locally. You can find out more on Shropshire Council’s website. 
 
This report provides a council-wide view of formal customer feedback. Annual reports are also 
prepared for Adult Services and Children’s Services allowing for a more detailed consideration of 
feedback for those service areas. Those reports are also published on Shropshire Council’s 
website and are used to support key performance and inspection processes. 
 
Definitions 
 
Complaint: A complaint is an expression of dissatisfaction, however made, about the standard of 
service, actions or lack of action by the organisation, its own staff, or those acting on its behalf, 
affecting an individual or group of individuals. Family members and advocates may make a 
complaint on behalf of one of our customers. We will ask for consent to ensure that the complaint 
is not being made against the customer’s wishes.  
 
Service request: A request that the organisation provides or improves a service, fixes a problem 
or reconsiders a decision. 
 
Compliment: Many people get in touch with a compliment when the information or support they 
have received has exceeded their expectations. It is helpful to learn when a service has been 
provided well or when a member of staff has done a great job. We record unsolicited compliments 
(we don’t formally record positive feedback generated through feedback forms or between staff). 
 
 
 

Page 25



4 
 

 
  

STAGE 1  
An appropriate Investigating Officer will be allocated to the case and asked to investigate the complaint. 
This is usually a manager within the service area the complaint relates to. The complainant will be 
provided with a written response within approximately 30 working days. (The timescale under the new 
Complaint Handling Code is 10 working days). In some complex cases it may take longer but we let the 
customer know if this extra time is needed and why (extensions must be agreed). The Investigating 
Officer will write to explain the outcome of their investigation, any learning or actions and information 
outlining how to progress the complaint if the customer is not satisfied with the outcome. 

STAGE 2 - Review 
The complaint will be reviewed by a more senior manager, commissioner, or in most cases, the 
Complaints Monitoring Officer. They will review the Stage 1 complaint and decide if there is more the 
service can do to address the concerns raised. If the reviewing officer believes the service has done all 
they can reasonably do, the customer will be written to and advised of this. They will also be given 
information about the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman.  

Feedback Received 
Shropshire Council encourages users of our services, their family members and carers to highlight any 
concerns so that they may be addressed. If problems cannot be resolved and the customer wishes to 
make a complaint, staff members can offer advice on how to make a complaint. Support is also available 
from complaints officers based within Shropshire Council’s Feedback and Insight Team.  
 

 
Telephone: 0345 678 9000 
Email: customer.feedback@shropshire.gov.uk 
Website:  https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/feedback/  
Online: Log into the My Shropshire portal

The Feedback and Insight Team coordinates the complaints process, recording and allocating complaints 
for investigation, monitoring response dates and overseeing performance. We cannot promise to get the 
result complainants want, but we do work to ensure that complaints are dealt with in line with the 
complaints procedures. We aim to keep customers informed of what is happening and the progress being 
made.  

2. The Corporate Complaints Process 

Acknowledgment 
Complaints will be acknowledged within 5 working days of being received and we let the complainant 
know how their complaint will be handled. 

Ombudsman If a complaint cannot be resolved locally it can be investigated by the Local Government 
and Social Care Ombudsman (LGO). Responses are often complex, lengthy and require a large volume 
of appendices to be collated, catalogued and returned to the LGO. Complainants can request to go to the 
Ombudsman without a review if they choose to although they may be referred back to complete the local 
complaint process. 

Page 26

https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/feedback/


5 
 

3. Customer Feedback 2024/25 
 
 

 

Within the year 2024/25 Shropshire Council received and recorded 3,079 cases of formal 
feedback. There were: 
 

• 2,386 initial complaint cases 
• 245 comments 
• 448 compliments 

 

 
 
Comments and other enquiries formed 8.0% of all feedback cases and 14.6% of all customer 
feedback cases were compliments. The 2,386 complaint cases formed 77.5% of all formal 
feedback and resulted in 952 complaint investigations. Not all complaints cases will result in an 
investigation. There are a wide range of reasons a complaint may be closed before investigation 
such as it was a service request, anonymous, outside of the Council’s jurisdiction, redirected to 
another process such as an appeal or claim, withdrawn or early resolved.  
 
The 952 complaint investigations were handled under the different statutory and corporate 
complaints processes. There were: 

• 749 Corporate complaints 
• 162 Adult Services statutory complaints (including provider complaints and multi-agency 

complaints) 
• 41 Children’s Services statutory complaints 

 
Feedback levels can vary over the year with slight fluctuations influenced by changes in weather 
conditions (e.g. heavy rain causing flooding, snow and ice impacting highways) or other factors. 
Overall, unlike some past years, 2024/25 didn’t see any dramatic increases or fluctuations due to 
severe weather conditions. There were some peaks in complaints as a result of public consultation 
and service changes made as part of Shropshire Council’s response to budget pressures. 
 

 
 

245, 8%

2386, 77%

448, 15%

Customer Feedback Cases 2024/25

Comment Complaint Compliment

0

100

200

300

400
Feedback cases by month 2024/25

Comment Complaint Compliment

Page 27



6 
 

 
Over the year, the monthly average was 257 customer feedback cases (more than the previous 
year at 219). Customer feedback cases were relatively steady across the year with slight 
decreases in June and August. January (333), September (302) and October (297) saw the 
greatest number of feedback cases, marking very different patterns to the previous year. Looking 
across the years, September is often a busy month. There were 223 customer feedback cases in 
December, and this is commonly the month with the fewest cases, although in 2024/25 August saw 
the least feedback. 
 
Performance data is considered by quarter. In 2024/25 quarter 1 (April to the end of June) saw the 
smallest quarter total with a steady increase through the year to 865 in quarter 4. The pattern is 
very different to the previous year making forecasting difficult. It suggests a steady upward trend 
unless there is change in 2025/26. Overall customer feedback case volumes have increased over 
recent years. The 2023/24 financial year suggested a plateauing with numbers relatively stable for 
the previous 3 years but 2024/25 has again seen another increase. There has been a 55% 
increase in customer feedback from 2016/17 and the chart below shows the upward trend line for 
customer feedback. There has been a 17% increase in all cases from 2023/24 to 2024/25. Due to 
budget pressures the resources allocated to manage customer feedback have not increased in line 
with growing demand. Research with 8 other similar local authorities highlights that team sizes 
were generally much larger. Shropshire Council’s complaints officers have average caseloads of 
282 complaints compared to an average of 118 among those surveyed. 
 

 
 
Work takes place to monitor the proportion of complaints within annual customer feedback totals. 
Over previous years there had not been any dramatic change and the proportion fluctuated slightly 
between 40% and 44%. However, this last year has seen dramatic change. In 2024/25 77% of all 
customer feedback cases raised were complaints. 
 
Towards the end of the financial year the council implemented a significant restructure. Due to the 
timing of that restructure the data in this report is more reflective of previous structures. Efforts will 
be made in 2025 to bring reporting in line with new structures (see recommendations).  
 
A closer look at compliments shows that the Place directorate (now split across Infrastructure, 
Strategy, Legal and Governance, and Communities & Customer) received the largest number of 
compliments (181 compliments, 40.4%) followed by People Adult Services (171, 38.2%). Due to 
the restructure this is the last year that change over time can be reported at a directorate or unit 
level. 
 
Adult Services and Children’s Services data is presented separately rather than as the People 
Directorate (as was in 2024/25) due to the different complaint procedures for statutory cases and 
national reporting requirements.  
 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Customer Feedback cases by year

Page 28



7 
 

 
 
Complaints (and some comments) are explored at greater depth than other types of feedback and 
may result in investigations. There may be multiple investigations for each complaint case, or a 
complaint case may be closed before it reaches investigation stage (for example it may be outside 
of the council’s jurisdiction, or the complainant may decide to withdraw their complaint because 
they have received a response/service). A complaint may refer to the services provided by more 
than one council department, in which case there will be more than one investigation. 
Investigations are led by officers (usually team or service managers) with a detailed knowledge of 
the service area. In 2024/25 there were 2,386 complaints cases and 952 complaint investigations.  
 
Complaint investigations do not always result in a complete investigation and outcome. Once a 
complaint case is explored in more detail, it is possible that a different course of action is required 
(e.g. an insurance claim or appeals process), or once the complaint is more fully understood it may 
be concluded that the complainant is merely asking for a simple remedial action to resolve a 
concern rather than wishing to proceed through a formal complaint investigation (a request for a 
service). Of the 2,386 complaints cases, many had an early closure reason allocated to indicate 
that the complaint did not result in a full investigation. Reasons for early closure may be that the 
complainant did not want to provide contact details or details to allow an investigation to proceed, 
the issue may not have been concerning a council or a commissioned service, or a more 
appropriate process may have been available (such as an appeal). Of the early closures, 397 
cases (55%) had to be early closed because the complainant chose not to provide contact details 
(anonymous complaints cannot be investigated). 13% were outside of the council’s jurisdiction and 
8% were insurance claims. Complaint outcomes are explored in more detail later in the report and 
this is picked up within the report recommendations. 
 
The following paragraphs are based on complaints investigations against which more detailed 
information is captured. The performance measures Shropshire Council uses to monitor 
complaints are largely based on complaints investigations. 
 

 

171, 38%

42, 9%5, 1%49, 11%

181, 41%

Compliments by Directorate 2024/25

People - Adult Services People - Children's Services
Health, Wellbeing and Prevention Resources and Central Management
Place

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Complaint investigations by year

Page 29



8 
 

 
 
Within the last few years considerable effort has been made to assess and ‘triage’ feedback prior 
to implementing the complaints process (where the process of incoming feedback makes that 
possible e.g. it is not possible through the portal online customer recording). This has avoided 
certain issues becoming complaints when they are a request for a service or can be remedied 
quickly, such as a request to cut back foliage or replace a streetlight. The Ombudsman uses 
guidance to emphasise that local authorities should provide a clear distinction between service 
requests and formal complaints (see definitions on page 3). 
 
Complaints should be made when there are concerns about the quality of service or other action 
taken by the council and not before services have had the opportunity to respond, particularly if 
they have not previously been aware of an issue. An effective complaints process requires support 
across the organisation to manage incoming issues and enquiries effectively. 
 
Action is required to improve this work within Shropshire Council due to the high volumes of 
enquiries being raised as complaints when they do not meet the definition of a complaint. There 
will always be a need to early close some complaints at case level but in 2024/25 42% of 
complaints raised at case level should have been considered as service requests and not directed 
to the complaint processes. 
 
There is a requirement by the Ombudsman that annual reports should include a summary of the 
types of complaints the organisation has refused to accept. The table below provides a summary. 
 
Cases not accepted as formal complaints for investigation 
 

Early Closure Reason Count % 
Immediate Resolution 66 9.1 
No Further Action Required 10 1.4 
Anonymous Case/ insufficient detail to investigate 398 54.9 
Call Abandoned 2 0.3 
Customer withdrew complaint/ Customer didn't respond 22 3.0 
Failed to Provide Consent 10 1.4 
Outside Jurisdiction 94 13.0 
Other Organisation to respond 2 0.3 
Logged In Error 3 0.4 
Disciplinary and Grievance Procedures 10 1.4 
Housing Benefit Appeal 1 0.1 
Insurance Claim 59 8.1 
Licensing Decision Appeal 3 0.4 
Penalty Charge Notice 4 0.6 
Planning Enforcement Appeal 1 0.1 
Planning Permission Appeal 4 0.6 
Special Educational Needs (SEN) Tribunals 1 0.1 
Police Investigation - Criminal 1 0.1 
Outside Timeframe/Old (12 months) 9 1.2 
Service request/ premature/ created in error 25 3.4 
Total 725 100 

 
The complaint investigation data collected highlights the reasons for complaints. ‘Service 
standards’ was the main category under which complaints were made in 2024/25 (70%). Within 
‘service standards’ there are a number of sub-categories and analysis highlights that ‘service 
standards – failure to provide a service/take action’, ‘service standards – inappropriate/incorrect 

Page 30



9 
 

action’ and  ‘service standards – poor quality of work/service’ were the dominant sub-categories. 
‘Decisions’ was the second main category under which complaints were recorded (14%). 
Complaints under the category decisions are usually made because someone is dissatisfied with a 
decision made (only 5 complaints related to a decision not taken). Complaints related to decisions 
seem to have been growing over the last few years, across multiple departments and this could be 
linked to public sector budget challenges. 
 

 
 
During 2024/25 Shropshire Council took an average of 23 working days to respond to stage 1 
complaints (against the 30 working day timescale). This has been the dominant performance issue 
over the last 2 years. Although the average has reduced, suggesting some improvement, this is 
due to very short response times within some service areas, there are still too many cases 
exceeding the timescales. Quarterly performance reporting has been focusing on the average time 
taken to respond to stage 1 complaints. The trend has been for longer response times over the last 
few years, but continued focus has shown a stabilising of average performance. The Council 
currently has 60 working days in total to respond to corporate complaints, 30 working days for each 
stage (stage 1 and stage 2). Additional analysis shows that of the 565 stage 1 corporate closed 
complaints, 156 were late and 409 (72%) were on time. Days to close will remain a key measure 
within ongoing performance monitoring. 
 
The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman has implemented a new complaint handling 
code for corporate complaints (excluding adult and children’s social care statutory complaints). The 
Ombudsman has issued the Code as “advice and guidance” for all local councils in England under 
section 23(12A) of the Local Government Act 1974. The Code is currently being piloted and there 
is an expectation that local authorities will adopt the Code by March 2026.  The Ombudsman 
intends to start considering the Code as part of processes (including case findings and reporting) 
from April 2026.  
 
Under the Code, stage 1 complaint investigations must be completed and a response provided 
within 10 working days. An additional 10 working days may be applied as an extension if there are 
robust and recorded reasons why more time is required and this is communicated to the 
complainant. Feedback and Insight Team officers report increasing complexity within complaints 
cases. Unfortunately, complexity is not something that can be easily measured or reported on with 
currently available data. 
 
One indicator of complexity that can be reported is the number of investigations raised for each 
complainant during the year (complaints may be added to over time or additional new complaints 
made as a complaint is responded to). The data shows that, in 2024/25 there were 156 customers 
with 2 or 3 complaint investigations within the year (22% of customers). 18 customers made 4 of 
more complaints within the year (2.6%). There has also been a significant increase in use of the 
Unreasonably Persistent and Vexatious Customers’ Register. In 2023/24 9 customers were 

9 40
136

45 17

664

41

0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700

Access to
services or

information

Assessment Decisions Information Policy Service
Standards (delay,
quality, failure to

act)

Staff (including
behaviour or

capability)

Problem categories for complaints 2024/25

Page 31



10 
 

contacted under the procedure and in 2024/25 that increased to 26, often as a result of abusive, 
threatening and unreasonable contact with members of staff. 
 

 
Green line = days to close timescale, Orange line = average days to close performance 
 
Some types of service are more likely to result in complaints than others and the chart below 
highlights complaints by directorate. Shropshire Council’s Place Directorate (as was in 2024/25) 
handled the largest proportion of complaints compared to other directorates within Shropshire 
Council (33% of all complaints) followed by Resources and the Office of the Chief Executive 
combined (24%) and Adult Services (22%). Children’s Services shows an increase and now has 
21% of complaints. Health, Wellbeing and Prevention reported only 6 complaints for the year. Data 
for Adult Services and Children’s services is explored in more detail throughout the year and within 
the annual reports for these services.  
 

 
 
Highways and Transport complaints traditionally form a large proportion of all complaints and in 
2024/25 formed 14% of all Shropshire Council’s complaints (an increase from 12% in 2023/24 but 
an improvement on the 19% in 2022/23 and 27% in 2021/22). Waste services complaints have 
also fluctuated slightly from 14% in 2022/23 to 6% in 2023/24 and 9% in 2024/25. These are 
services used by all residents. Revenues and Benefits received a significant proportion of 
complaints at 5% similar to the last year. Planning Services complaints formed 5% (the same 
proportion as the previous year). 
 
The Resources directorate, as was, included a smaller number of customer-facing services (many 
providing services to other council departments). A significant proportion of the complaints 
allocated to Resources are not related to its own services but to those of other departments. Legal 
and governance services was allocated 136 complaints, 14% of all complaints but this is due to the 
fact that stage 2 corporate complaints have increased in volume (the complaints are not complaints 
about the services delivered by Legal Services). 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Days to close stage 1 complaints 2024/25

206

200

6

310

230

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350

Adult Services - People

Children's Services - People

Health, Wellbeing and Prevention

Place

Resources

All complaints by directorate 2024/25

Page 32



11 
 

 
Considering detailed data by service it is worth noting that some service areas with slightly higher 
volumes of complaints reflect the national picture across other local authorities. Children’s social 
work case management, SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disabilities) and adult social care 
complaints are among areas of service nationally where there are growing demands and pressures 
leading to complaints. Some of the reasons for this are linked to national economic and social 
changes and cost of living pressures. The chart below displays numbers of complaints by unit 
(services are grouped into these areas for ease of reporting). Comparison will not be possible in 
2025/26 due to the significant council restructure. 
 

 
 
The top themes for upheld and partly upheld complaints are shown in the following chart and show 
that complaints relating to Education, Health and Care (EHC) plans, care needs assessment, 
highways and customer services are more frequently leading to findings of some fault. 
 

0 50 100 150

Children’s Case Management

Children’s Social Care and Safeguarding

Children's Services

Early Help, Partnerships and Commissioning

Learning & Skills

Adult Services Business Support & Development

Social Care Operations - Community

Social Care Operations - Hospital Interface

Social Care Operations -Mental Health

Health, Wellbeing and Prevention

Public Health - Non-Ringfenced

Business and Consumer Protection

Culture Leisure and Tourism

Director of Place

Planning

Economy and Place Other

Highways

Housing Services

Homes and Communities

Parking contravention Notice (PCN) Processing (after…

Waste

Place Other

Property Services Group

Shire Services

Communications and Engagement

Revenues and Benefits

Finance, Governance & Assurance Other

Legal and Democratic Services

Strategic Management

Complaint investigations by unit 2024/25

Page 33



12 
 

 
 
When considering complaints performance, the outcome is very important. The data for 2024/25 
shows that: 
 

• At the end of the 12-months 2024/25, 736 were complaints opened and closed at stage 1. 
• Of the closed stage 1 complaints 22% were upheld (160 complaints), 23% were partially 

upheld and 42% were not upheld. 
• Considering the complaints that were upheld (all stages closed within the year), 21% were with 

Highways and Transport (a significant improvement compared to 2021/22 at 32% but more 
than the 17% in 2023/24). 18% were for Special Educational Needs and Disability within 
Learning and Skills, 14% Adult Social Care Operations - Community and 9% were with Waste 
Management. 

• Although in smaller numbers, there were also a higher proportion of upheld cases for Adult 
Services Business Support (linked to charges for care (7%) and Customer Services (5%)). 

• The three dominant problem categories within upheld complaints are ‘Service standards – 
failure to provide a service/take action’, ‘Service standards – delays’, and ‘Service standards – 
inappropriate/incorrect action’. Work by the Feedback and Insight Team is undertaken to keep 
complainants informed of any delays and progress, but often concerns cannot be addressed 
without more detailed and specialist knowledge from service areas. 

• 2% of stage 1 complaints investigations resulted in no finding. A complaints investigator may 
find that not enough evidence or information is available to draw a conclusion, or they may be 
unable to obtain enough information from the complainant to fully complete the investigation. 
Occasionally it may be a sign of failure to investigate. The proportion of ‘no finding’ outcomes 
was previously a problem, but this has now been addressed and performance has improved 
and been consistent for the last two years. 

 

 
 
The next section of the report considers the progression of complaints beyond stage 1. 

0 10 20 30 40 50

Financial Assessment
Drain and gully clearance

Support for looked after children in care
Potholes

Occupational Therapy
Household waste collection

Customer Service Centre
Highways - Other

Care needs assessment
Education, health and care (EHC) plan

Top themes for upheld and partly upheld complaints 2024/25

311, 42%

171, 23%

160, 22%

16, 2%
14, 2% 64, 9%

Outcome of stage 1 investigations 2024/25

Not Upheld Partially Upheld Upheld No Finding Service Request not Complaint Withdrawn

Page 34



13 
 

4. Progression of Complaints 
 

 
Effective stage 1 complaint handling can reduce the number of stage 2 complaints. It is important 
to understand how many complaints progress beyond stage 1 and this is a measure included 
within regular performance reporting. During 2021/22 only a small proportion of all the complaints 
Shropshire Council received progressed beyond stage 1. Since then the number of cases 
progressing beyond stage 1 has increased. In 2021/22 99 cases progressed beyond stage 1; in 
2022/23 the number was similar at 95 but in 2023/24 129 cases progressed and in 2024/25 this 
rose again to 143.  
 
Occasionally some complaints may progress prematurely to the Ombudsman without a stage 2 
investigation and these will be referred back where appropriate. The table below shows the 
number of complaints investigations beyond stage 1 and the chart below highlights the outcome of 
those complaints (18 of the cases remain open so do not yet have a finding). Numbers will differ 
from the Ombudsman data later in the report due to the difference in the dates reported to each 
organisation. For the first time in 2024/25 it is now also possible that insufficient staffing and 
excessive caseloads have impacted reporting. Some cases may not have been up to date at the 
time of the annual data extract. 
 

Stage 2  

 
Stage 3 

(children’s 
statutory) Ombudsman 

Total investigations 
beyond stage 1 

82 1 61 144 
 

 
 
The Shropshire annual report from the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
highlighted that 79 complaints were received by the Ombudsman for Shropshire Council in 
2024/25 and 31 cases were considered/decided (15 of those with an outcome). This total will 
include complaints received by Shropshire Council in previous financial years, so the data is not 
comparable with local data covered in this report (looking at cases received within the financial 
year). 
 
Of the 15 cases investigated with outcomes, 9 were upheld, 6 were not upheld. Many of the total 
79 considered resulted in other actions such as referring back for local resolution, offering advice, 
or closure after initial enquiries. The Ombudsman reports Shropshire Council’s upheld rate at 60%. 
The LGO upheld rate for similar local authorities is reported as 80%. Available data from the 

9, 7%

20, 16%

37, 30%
8, 6%

52, 41%

Outcome of stage 2 and Ombudsman investigations 2024/25

Upheld Partially Upheld Not Upheld No Finding Withdrawn

Page 35



14 
 

Ombudsman is used within a separate, performance report to track annual performance over the 
years and for benchmarking with the local authority family group. 
 
Ombudsman Complaints – Received and Upheld 
 

Category Number received Number upheld 
Adult Care Services 16 3 
Benefits & Tax 6 0 
Corporate & Other Services 4 0 
Education & Children’s Services 16 4 
Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 8 0 
Highways & Transport 7 1 
Housing 5 0 
Planning & Development 16 1 
Other 1 0 
Grand Total 79 9 

 
 
Outcome of Decisions Made 
 
    Investigation Outcomes  

Advice given 

Closed 
after initial 
enquiries  

Incomplete/ 
Invalid 

Referred 
back for 
local 
resolution 

Not 
Upheld Upheld 

Upheld 
rate 
(%) 

Grand 
Total 

2 31 3 28 6 9 60 79 
 
 
Compliance with Ombudsman recommendations was 100% in 2024/25. The rate of complaints per 
100,000 population is 2.7% for Shropshire Council in 2024/25 against an average of 5.3% for all 
authorities.  
 
Ombudsman is currently considering the introduction of a new standard set of performance 
measures for local authorities to enable improved information and benchmarking beyond the 
Ombudsman level data available currently. These measures have been suggested within recent 
Ombudsman training on the new Complaint Handling Code (see recommendations).  
 
Appendix 1 displays the current Ombudsman performance measures. Appendix 2 highlights 
findings and recommendations made by the Ombudsman for upheld cases. All recommendations 
are monitored and actioned by the Shropshire Council service area responsible for the complaint, 
and in many cases overseen by the service area’s Service Director. 
 
  

Page 36



15 
 

5. Annual Comparisons 
 
 
 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 
Number of compliments – average 
 

The number of compliments in 2024/25 has fallen very slightly 
since the previous year but remains in line with average figures.  
 
 

436 475 448 

Performance is in line with 
expected numbers with. 

 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 
Complaints investigations – lower than expected 
 

The number of complaint investigations recorded by Shropshire 
Council totalled 952 in 2024/25, 978 in 2023/24, 1,187 in 2022/23 
and 1,190 in 2021/22. Overall, the reduction is against the upward 
trend of complaints at case level. Work has been taking place to 
triage cases and ensure service requests are not taken forward as 
complaints prematurely, but the Ombudsman warns that a fall in 
complaint numbers can be a sign of poor performance. The lack of 
resources to raise and manage investigations should be considered 
a possible factor with caseloads significantly exceeding other local 
authority averages. 
 

1,187 978 952 

Complaint investigations 
have reduced in number, but 
this is not necessarily a sign 
of improved performance 
and should be considered 
alongside other data. 

 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 
Days to close – Average days to close reduced 
 

The average number of working days taken to respond to a stage 1 
complaint was 32 working days in 2023/24 but performance has 
since improved with the 2024/25 average standing at 23 working 
days. Despite this average improvement too many complaints 
investigations are exceeding the 30 working days total for stage 1 
corporate complaints (28% were overdue). Complaints 
investigators increasingly report concerns about their ability to meet 
complaint timescales as a result of workload and other pressures. 
 

26 
working 

days 

31 
working 

days 

23 
working 

days 
Average performance has 
improved but there are still 
too many complaints 
investigations exceeding 
timescales. 

 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 
Outcome at stage 1 – Reduction in proportion upheld  
 

When considering the proportion of complaints upheld, 
performance overall was relatively steady until the last few years 
when a trend towards more upheld complaints began. It would be a 
concern if performance monitoring highlighted too few cases being 
upheld (it is important that Shropshire Council accepts where things 
have gone wrong and strives for improvement). As highlighted 
earlier in the report, there are some services experiencing pressure 
and seeing increased findings of fault. 

16% 27% 22% 

Some improvement since 
2023/24. 

 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 
Complaints progressing beyond Stage 1 – Increased 
 

In 2019/20 2.7% of cases progressed to stage 2 or the Local 
Government Ombudsman (47) and this has increased considerably 
over recent years with 19.6% cases escalating beyond stage 1 in 
2024/25. That doesn’t include cases where an additional stage 1 
response is required. The Ombudsman upheld rate was 80% in 
2022/23 and remained stable in 2023/24 at 79%. There has been 
an improvement in 2024/25 to 60%. 

8.7% 15.0% 19.6% 
Complaints cases have 
become increasingly 
complex and time 
consuming and the data for 
escalated cases helps 
illustrate this increase. 
 

  

Page 37



16 
 

6. Example Compliments 
 
 
Shropshire Council received 448 compliments during 2024/25. Examples are included below. 
Receiving a compliment can make a big difference to a member of staff working hard to provide 
support for others or deliver services as effectively as possible. Although compliments are not 
given the same attention as complaints, they are used within the Council to understand where 
things are working well and to recognise the additional efforts made by individual members of staff. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Compliment for Public Protection 
Officer, Blue Badge Scheme: "I have 
just tried to call you to give a more 
personal thank you for looking at my 
case and making the application 
process so clear and easy but I think 
you may be ‘mega busy’ and so the 
switchboard couldn’t get through. It’s 
bitter-sweet in some ways - not 
wanting to have a disablement but at 
the same time so very grateful for the 
extra support you have been able to 
offer. I really do appreciate you...Keep 
doing what you do; you have certainly 
made my day. Thanks again." 

Compliment for Rights of Way, Outdoor 
Partnerships: “Thank you for all your help 
with this footpath diversion. It has been a 
pleasure and I wish all local authorities 
were as proactive, communicative and 
helpful as you have been. I am sure our 
paths will cross again soon.” 

Compliment for Revenues and Benefits Officer: “[name 
removed] at Sales Ledger is fantastic, very polite and 
cheery. I rang to ask if a direct debit had been set up and 
she was very patient with me she explained in lots of 
detail what was happening and even liaised with Debt 
Recovery (he's great too) for me about another issue I 
have. She was fantastic, everyone needs a [Name 
removed] at their council! Thank you." 

Compliment for Housing Options and Homelessness: "I 
wanted to say thank you for the help you have given me. I 
know it won't be easy but with your, and your colleagues, 
support I know I can do what’s the best for me and my 
children. I am incredibly grateful. Thank you once again." 

Compliment for Occupational Health and Housing Options: "The 
major Adaptations to our property have now been completed and 
we are so very grateful for the massive difference that this has 
made to our lives. The specialist toilet is so helpful in managing 
our condition and the walk-in level access shower is also a huge 
blessing. We appreciate everyone who has been involved with it 
all from start to finish.” 

Compliment for Planning 
Officer: "I just thought I’d let 
you know that we have 
secured funding from Veolia to 
go forward with our new 
clubhouse. I wanted to thank 
you for your help it. I don’t 
suppose you get too many 
thanks, so I thought I’d let you 
know that your support was 
crucial and much appreciated." 

Compliment for Waste Client Team: "I just want to say 
thank you to the refuse collectors who come to 
Bucknell each week. They always seem to go above 
and beyond. I’m really thankful. I left a huge box out 
today, and I did not expect it to be taken; but it has 
been. They grab my garden waste bin if I decide not to 
put it out or forget. I just hope they see this message 
as I imagine it’s quite a thankless job at times. I’m very 
grateful and feel lucky to have such a service." 

"Compliment for a Compass Help and Support Team: "…I don’t have enough words to 
thank him enough for his kindness and his positive support that he brings to every visit. 
My kids are always so comfortable and open when he is around. I would like to 
compliment his support and hard work for my family." 

Page 38



17 
 

7. Example Complaints 
 

 
Shropshire Council received 2,386 complaints during the year 2024/25 and carried out 952 
investigations. Some example complaints have been included below to highlight the type of 
feedback Shropshire Council receives. These examples were not all upheld. Some complaints 
arise from a lack of understanding of the service Shropshire Council can provide. Where necessary 
wording within the examples has been removed within to ensure anonymity. The next section of 
this report looks more closely at learning and the actions taken following complaint investigations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Complaint relating to 
Children’s Case Management 
North West: “…there has 
been a lack of contact with 
her regarding her children’s 
welfare since they were 
removed from her care earlier 
in the year. She also states 
that she has been trying to 
arrange contact with them, but 
no one is updating her or 
arranging it.” 

Complaint relating to Customer Services: "I wish to raise a formal 
complaint regarding your telephone line 03456789000. It is hopeless 
trying to call option 9, one JUST cannot get through, sometimes I have 
been holding the line for over one house 10mins the 10 mins will be add 
to my telephone bill at a PREMIUM RATE, which I am most annoyed 
about. I have been trying to get through since the 3rd September, to no 
avail. This is appalling service. The Council is quick to take money from 
people but are reluctant to provide services that meets the needs of is 
town and if they do it is always at a high price. Shropshire Council's 
administration/executives are no longer servants of, and for, the people 
but rather a self-serving despot corporation acting under the guise of a 
Council. This cannot continue without some redress." 

Complaint relating to Building Control: “The customer's complaint is with 
regard to a lack of both communication and action ..The customer has 
concerns with his neighbour's car port. The customer has had 
communication with the team and an inspection conducted. However, he 
feels that communication has been difficult, and his initial requests not acted 
upon. The customer is waiting for a report from Building Control to enable his 
solicitor to progress the matter.” 

Complaint relating to 
Revenues and Benefits. 
"I'm trying to challenge 
incorrect business rates. 
I call day after day and 
no one answers the 
phone. I send an email 
which bounces back 
informing it is no longer 
monitored. I try to 
upload detail on your 
website and it will not 
allow me to do it. How 
do I talk with someone?" 

Complaint relating to Waste 
Management: “The customer 
ordered a bulky Collection for 2 
items to be collected and paid £48. 
Phoned in to cancel as she had 
given the items to some children 
for a den. I advised unfortunately 
would not be able to have a refund 
due to terms and conditions. 
Customer feels this is not fair as 
she tried to contact just after 
5.00pm on Friday but we were 
closed then it was weekend then a 
Bank Holiday feels she is being 
punished as she can’t have a 
refund. She would like to complain 
about this and have it looked into.” 

Complaint relating to Community 
Social Work Team South: "A meeting 
was held to seek additional hours for 
care to be provided to my son…We 
were told that we could expect a 
decision within 6-8 weeks, it is now 
13 weeks and no decision.” 

     
       

      
   

     
 

Complaint relating to Housing: “The complainant states that she 
cannot access email without support and so has missed the emails 
meaning her application has been terminated. The complainant 
states she made the Council aware she could not respond to 
emails without support and that she requires communication in the 
post. The complainant feels that reasonable adjustments should 
have been so that she can access the service. As a consequence 
of this, she is now going through the application process again 
form the beginning and has lost the initial date of her application as 
the backdated date.” 

Page 39



18 
 

8. Learning and Actions 
 
 
Shropshire Council recorded learning, action or outcome notes against 705 complaints in 2024/25 
(and 138 of those included detailed actions or lessons). Actions and lessons are usually made 
when complaints are upheld or partly upheld. If only a small proportion of complaint investigations 
result in a finding of fault there will be fewer remedial actions or learning. However, this recording 
of learning and actions should be an area for ongoing improvement (currently around 40% of all 
partly upheld or upheld closed cases have learning recorded). This is referred to in the 
recommendations. The charts below highlight the primary action and learning point recorded.  
 

 
 
Of the actions that were recorded against complaints closed in 2024/25 56% were to provide an 
apology. 16% of actions included the provision of additional information or explanation and 11% 
were actions linked to arranging employee training or guidance. 
 

 
 
43% of learning related to communication or provision of information. Communication is 
consistently a dominant theme within complaints. Complainants often highlight disappointment that 
they were not contacted, were not communicated with enough, or information was not shared 
effectively. More effective communication at an earlier stage can lead to a better understanding of 
the issues or the processes council staff work to and prevent the development of a formal 
complaint. Non-delivery of a service and service quality were also main categories in 2024/25. 

56%

11%

2%
2%

7%

2%

16%

4%

Improvement Actions Recorded 2024/25

Apology Arrange Employee Training or Guidance

Change or Review a Policy or Procedure Change or Review Service Literature

Change, review or provide a service Improve Customer Care

Provide Additional Information or Explanation Take Action or Enforce a Decision

43%

1%
1%
1%2%

3%
1%

1%

27%

20%

Learning Points Recorded 2024/2025

Communication / Information
Finance - Cost / Funding
Individual - Attitude/ behaviour of staff/ service user
Management - Decision making
Management - Time scale of decision or service provision
Other
Policy / Procedures - impact of policy on service user / customer
Policy / Procedures - not adhered to
Service - delivery / non delivery of service
Service - quality

Page 40



19 
 

9. Example Learning and Actions 
 

 
The recording of learning is strongly encouraged following the completion of a complaint 
investigation. Acknowledging and acting on learning from complaints can avoid any mistakes from 
being repeated and lead to ongoing improvement. Examples are shown below to highlight the type 
of learning and actions recorded. This is one element of wider work undertaken to focus on quality, 
and ensure customers receive a good standard of service. Wording within the examples has been 
altered slightly for simplicity and to ensure confidentiality. 
 
 
 
   

Following a complaint relating to 
the lack of suitable alternative 
education for child: "[The Council 
will] issue a reminder to staff that 
the statutory duty to provide 
suitable alternative educational 
provision under Section 19 
remains with the Council." 

Complaint about repeated reports on FixMyStreet over two 
years being ignored: "I have spoken to the Technician 
about the apparent lack of activity and communication with 
you, as the Council’s customer, for which I apologise. I 
have reminded them that they are responsible for 
maintaining a line of communication with customers about 
issues that have been raised. There may not always be a 
consensus, but efforts should be made to keep residents 
updated and in a timely manner." 

Complaint following a mess left after Waste Collection: "The supervisor of the depot has reminded 
the crews of the importance of tidying up any waste they drop on the floor. Whilst sometimes a small 
amount of mess is unavoidable due to a sack being overfilled, we do request that our collection 
crews report the larger messes to the depot so that they can send a colleague to tidy the area up." 

Complaint relating to the responsibility for 
Housing: "There was confusion among 
officers regarding Shropshire Council's 
duty to support and provide 
accommodation and some lack of clarity 
in working with the ICB. This is now 
recognised and officers made aware of 
Shropshire Council's duty." 

Following a complaint relating to ineffective 
communication within Children’s Social 
Care: "There was an element of complaint 
upheld relating to communication. The 
social worker had said they would make 
contact at the end of the week but was 
then absent from work, so the 
communication did not happen. There is 
learning linked to the need to manage 
communications and expectations." 

Complaint relating to non-repayment of care home fees: "I appreciate that the communication was 
unclear, and discussions have been held with staff around clear and transparent communication. I 
apologise for the upset and distress that has been caused. Please accept my sincere apologies 
that your recent experiences of the Council were not of the high standard that one should expect 
to receive." 

Following a complaint relating to the conduct of a 
Children’s social worker: "A new social worker has 
been put in place but lessons have been learnt 
from the practice of the previous social worker 
and the need for management and oversight. 
Communication improvements and clarity of 
information were taken as learning points." 

Complaint relating to the delay in responding to 
an application for an uplift in care home fees: 
"We now have a structured process, with scrutiny 
and oversight, in place to consider provider uplift 
queries and applications. This will ensure that 
current and future uplift requests are responded 
to in a timely manner and that there is clear 
communication regarding outcome of application 
and justification." 

Complaint relating to an invoice which is being challenged as the customer does not recognise the 
amounts:  "All Financial Assessment Officers have been reminded that it is their responsibility to 
explain the contents of invoices. Further training will be provided to ensure officers are able to 
answer such queries when required." 

Page 41



20 
 

10. Conclusions 
 
 
The customer feedback data for 2024/25 highlights a number of challenges for the year ahead, 
particularly in relation to the significant performance improvements that will be required under the 
Ombudsman’s Complaints Handling Code. Over the year, the monthly average was 257 customer 
feedback cases (more than the previous year at 219). This is also reflected in quarterly totals and 
in 2024/25 each quarter saw an increase in the number of customer feedback cases being raised. 
There has been a 55% increase in customer feedback from 2016/17 whilst the level of resources 
available to manage the complaints process has remained the same. 
 
Analysis suggests that too many complaints are being raised prematurely rather than remedial 
action being taken to resolve concerns informally at service request stage. In 2024/25 42% of 
complaints raised at case level should have been considered as service requests and not directed 
to the complaint processes. Despite this, through use of triage processes complaints investigation 
numbers have reduced compared to the previous year. This should not necessarily be considered 
a sign of improvement and may reflect the Council’s ability to adequately resource the complaints 
processes and the increase in inappropriate referrals to the complaints process. 
 
The complexity of complaints has increased (although difficult to demonstrate through the 
performance measures) and more complaints are progressing beyond stage 1 to stage 2 (for 
corporate and children’s statutory complaints) and to the Ombudsman. There are also more 
customers making multiple complaints in a year and the council has seen an increase in use of 
restrictions under the unreasonably persistent and vexatious customers register. Where complaints 
are upheld this is commonly as a result of failure to provide a service, incorrect action, poor quality 
of service and delays. The pattern for more complaints relating to decisions has been maintained 
in 2024/25 (only evident in the last 2-3 years). Generally, complainants are more likely to challenge 
the decisions taken by Shropshire Council. This is not restricted to some services but can be seen 
across the local authority. 
 
Complaints for Adult Services and Children’s Services have continued to form a larger overall 
proportion of complaints compared to previous years. Place Directorate complaints have 
decreased since 2022/23 and over the last 2 years have varied from 31% in 2023/24 to 33% in 
2024/25). Adult Services complaints now form 22% of complaint investigations (from 16% in 
2022/23) and Children’s Services complaints have increased to 21% this year. There are clear 
areas of more pressure (many reflected nationally) such as in Special Educational Needs and 
Disability, Revenues and Benefits and finance related complaints. Waste services saw a peak in 
complaints linked to service changes designed to reduce expenditure, but numbers have since 
stabilised. 
 
The average number of working days taken to respond to stage 1 complaints has improved but 
remains a concern due to the number of overdue complaints (averages mean good performance in 
some areas masks problems in others). However, it is encouraging to see that the average number 
of working days to respond to stage 1 corporate complaints has reduced from 31 working days in 
2023/24 to 23 working days in 2024/25. Late responses can be linked to increases in the 
proportion of complaints progressing beyond stage 1. Additional analysis shows that of the 565 
stage 1 corporate closed complaints in year, 28% were late. This is a concern due to the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s new complaints handling code for corporate 
complaints which includes a 10 working day stage 1 timescale. In 2024/25 only 27% of complaints 
were responded to within 10 working days at stage 1. 
 
Overall, the Ombudsman investigated 15 complaints relating to Shropshire Council in 2024/25 
(with 79 raised and 31 assessed). 9 complaints were upheld with an uphold rate of 60%. Due to 
the relatively small numbers of cases the upheld rate can fluctuate significantly each year and 
comparison is difficult, however, performance is better than the average upheld rate for similar 
local authorities (80%).  

Page 42



21 
 

11. Progress Update 
 

 
Key actions and achievements over the last 12 months are summarised against a brief description 
of the recommendations made last year. Some of the recommendations require ongoing 
organisational action across services and are beyond the direct influence of the Feedback and 
Insight Team. 
 

 Action Last Year Progress Made 
1 Improve customer experience: Use 

the Digital Delivery Unit transformation 
programme as a means of improving 
the ease of raising customer feedback 
reporting and the updates provided to 
reassure customers that the 
appropriate action is underway. 

A new IT system for complaints is in the process of 
being developed. The system has not yet lead to 
any recommendations designed to improve 
customer experience; and since its use is limited to 
a few services it is not expected to improve the 
experience of making service requests in a way 
that will lead to a reduction in complaint numbers. 

   

2 Focus on service request responses: 
Adopt a focus on resolving requests for 
services promptly as a way of reducing 
the number of complaints received by 
the organisation. 

Work to triage cases has resulted in mixed 
success. In some areas, services have been able 
to provide a service and resolve an issue to 
prevent the need for formal investigation. In others 
there have been additional complaints about 
delays and poor customer service. 

   

3 Feedback Culture: Foster a positive 
complaint handling culture among staff 
and individuals, as envisioned by the 
Ombudsman's Code, to encourage 
constructive feedback and learning 
from complaints. 

The Feedback and Insight Team work to promote 
the value of learning from complaints where 
possible but there is a need for further action to 
deliver an organisation-wide change in how 
complaints are viewed, and learning identified and 
used for service improvement. 

   

4 Review the potential impact of the 
LGSCO Complaint Handling Code: 
Undertake further analysis of the impact 
of the new Ombudsman's Complaints 
Handling Code and present a report to 
Cabinet during 2025/26.  

The self-assessment included within this report 
highlights where work is required to move towards 
delivery of the Ombudsman’s Code. An internal 
report will be presented to the Leadership Board 
and will set out the resources required to deliver 
the Code. 

   

5 Clarify exclusions: Ensure customers 
and members of staff understand the 
most appropriate way of responding to 
enquiries and complaint process 
exclusions. Using the correct processes 
and clarifying when a complaint cannot 
be taken. 

The Feedback and Insight Team has been 
identifying the exclusions that will be 
recommended within the updated Shropshire 
Council corporate complaints procedure – this is 
subject to agreement to implement the code and 
sign off of a new procedure. 

   

6 Improve Response Times: Continue 
efforts to reduce the average response 
time for stage 1 complaints, aiming to 
meet the 30-working day timescale. 

This has been a significant focus in the last year 
and the data highlights improvement with average 
timescales reducing. It will remain an important 
priority to reduce numbers of overdue complaints. 
 

   

7 Service Area Focus: Pay special 
attention to service areas there are 
higher upheld rates. 

More focused work takes place with some service 
areas such as more regular reporting of complaints 
due/overdue and regular caseload meetings. 
 
 

   

Page 43



22 
 

 Action Last Year Progress Made 
8 Upheld Rates: A greater proportion of 

complaints are being upheld. This 
suggests service failure and growing 
pressures. It may be a difficult issue to 
address with local authority budgets 
under pressure. 

There has been some improvement in the last 12 
months and upheld rates have reduced. There is 
further work to do and this report highlights those 
areas in need of attention for the next 12 months. 

   

9 Complaint Progression: A focus 
should be on trying to reverse the 
annual increases in the proportion of 
complaints escalating beyond stage 1. 

Numbers of cases progressing have continued to 
increase. This is featured as a key 
recommendation for 2025/26. 

   

10 Focus on Response Quality:  Without 
significant change the Feedback and 
Insight Team is not large enough to 
quality check all complaints. Work is 
recommended to find ways of improving 
quality, perhaps through training, IT 
system record keeping etc. 

The Feedback and Insight Team have been 
promoting stage 1 complaint quality as a way of 
reducing follow up requests and progression to 
stage 2. This work has not yet impacted, and data 
highlights the increase in stage 2 requests. Work 
will need to continue with senior management 
support (see recommendations). 

   

11 Remedies: Shropshire Council will 
need to respond to the Ombudsman’s 
Code with a new approach to remedies. 
This may need policy consideration and 
could also include increased reporting 
and reporting of actions and integration 
into performance reporting. 

The decision to delay decision making concerning 
the implementation of the Ombudsman’s Code has 
meant a lack of progress in this area. Additional 
resources are required to deliver this action (see 
recommendations). 

   

12 Equalities and Reasonable 
Adjustments: The Complaint Handling 
Code sets out new requirements for the 
way local authorities should consider 
and record customer needs within the 
complaints process.  

This has been considered within casework, but 
new council guidance will be required to 
accompany a new complaints procedure if the 
agreement to implement the Code is made 
(following see sections of the report). 

   

13 Changing Customer Behaviours: 
Abuse towards staff is becoming more 
common and must be addressed. Work 
will continue to assist officers in 
applying the Unreasonably Persistent 
and Vexatious Customers Procedure 
and other support to assist where 
possible. 

There has been a significant increase in use of the 
Unreasonably Persistent and Vexatious Customers 
Procedure. This has resulted in some successful 
outcomes but there are some limitations in cases 
where customers have greater levels of need or 
complexity. The overall result has been mixed with 
some positive impact.  

   

14 Third Party Complaints: 
Consideration of the Ombudsman's 
Complaint Handling Code on local 
arrangements with third party providers. 

Additional resources are required to deliver this 
action (see recommendations). 

   

15 Engagement and Surveys: The 
Ombudsman has included a request 
within the Code for local authorities to 
report back on wider learning and 
improvements from complaints to 
stakeholders, such as citizens’ panels, 
staff and relevant committees. It also 
asks that service feedback surveys 
provide details of how individuals can 
complain.  

Additional resources are required to deliver this 
action (see recommendations). 

Page 44



23 
 

12. Ombudsman Code 
 
 
In August 2023, the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman published proposals for a 
standardisation of complaints processes for public bodies that are within its remit, including council 
complaints processes. It should be noted that the proposals do not cover statutory complaints 
processes for social care (children’s statutory complaints process and adult statutory complaints 
process). The aim of the planned changes will be to create a consistent approach to complaints 
across councils and housing providers to give the public greater clarity of what to expect when 
making a complaint. Shropshire Council responded to the consultation along with other bodies, 
including the Local Government Association. 
 
This has resulted in some revisions to the Code published by the Ombudsman. The Ombudsman 
has asked councils to start applying the Code as soon as possible but will not use the Code within 
its assessment of complaints and recommendations until April 2026. 
 
The table below sets out the Code timescales compared with the current council procedure. 
 
Process Shropshire Council’s current 

corporate complaints timescales 
Ombudsman’s Complaint 
Handling Code timescales 

Stage 1 investigation 
acknowledgement 

5 working days 5 working days 

Stage 1 investigation 
response 

30 working days 10 working days 

Stage 1 investigation 
extension 

Not applicable – as soon as possible 10 working days 

Stage 2 review 
acknowledgement 

5 working days 5 working days 

Stage 2 review response 30 working days 20 working days 
Stage 2 review extension Not applicable – as soon as possible 20 working days 

 
Main requirements: 

• An annual report (to include a list of content including the annual letter from the 
Ombudsman). 

• Completion of an annual self-assessment against the Code. This should set out how well 
the organisation is performing against the Code (e.g. timescales), information of 
improvements implemented, records of quality checks, exclusions and feedback from staff. 
If the failure to meet an expectation only relates to one service area or department this 
should be made clear. 

• Changes to corporate complaints procedure to use the definitions of complaints and service 
requests set out within the Code. Clear exclusions must also be explained (where other 
processes should be used rather than a corporate complaint). 

• Communication about the complaints process and choice of channels to make a complaint 
(e.g. online form, telephone, letter). 

• Demonstration of reasonable adjustments and complaint remedies action. 
• An appropriately resourced complaints process with central responsibility and senior officer 

leadership and governance. All relevant staff should be suitable trained in the importance of 
complaint handling. 

• A culture of learning from complaints with access to all levels to allow resolution of disputes 
promptly and fairly. 

• An Elected Member with responsibility for complaints with reporting to Scrutiny. 
• Robust performance reporting. 

 
The Ombudsman has published a series of guidance documents to support the implementation of 
the Code, available here: Complaint Handling Code - LGSCO 

Page 45

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/information-for-organisations-we-investigate/complaint-handling-code


24 
 

13. Code Self-Assessment 
 
 
Shropshire Council has not yet implemented the new Complaints Handling Code outlined in 
section 13. A decision was taken by the previous administration to delay decision making until 
2025 due to organisational pressures and other priorities. The new administration (Cabinet) will 
consider the requirement to implement the Code alongside this report. A step towards 
implementation includes the publication of an annual self-assessment to demonstrate compliance. 
This self-assessment acts as a baseline, pre-implementation with progress expected to be 
reported in 12 months’ time. 
 
Code section Compliance? Comments 
1. Definition of a service request and complaint 
1.1 Adopt a shared understanding of what constitutes 
a service request and what constitutes a complaint. 
(1.2 to 1.4 set out definitions). This should be set out 
within the complaints policy. 

Not yet The complaints procedure will 
need to be updated. 

1.5 A complaint that is submitted via a third party or 
representative should still be handled in line with the 
organisation’s complaints policy. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice. 

1.6 Organisations should recognise the difference 
between a service request and a complaint. This 
should be set out in their complaints policy.  

Partly Differences included but 
wording to be updated with 
Ombudsman’s new definitions. 

1.7 Organisations should have the opportunity to deal 
with a service request before a complaint is made. A 
complaint may be raised when the 
individual expresses dissatisfaction with the response 
to their service request, even if the handling of the 
service request remains ongoing. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice. 

1.8 Service requests should be recorded, monitored 
and reviewed regularly. 

No This is an organisational issue 
beyond complaints processes. 

2. Exclusions 
2.1 and 2.4 If the organisation decides not to accept a 
complaint, it should be able to evidence its reasoning 
and communicate to the complainant. Each complaint 
should be considered on its own merits. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice. 

2.2 Organisations should accept complaints 
referred to them within 12 months of the issue 
occurring, or the individual becoming aware of the 
issue. Discretion may be applied in some 
circumstances. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice. 

2.3 Exclusions should be set out within the 
complaints policy/procedure. 

Partly Some changes are required as 
the procedure is updated. 

2.4 and 2.5 If an organisation decides not to accept a 
complaint, an explanation should be provided to the 
individual. Organisations should not take a blanket 
approach to excluding complaints; they should 
consider the individual circumstances of each 
complaint. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice. 

3. Accessibility and awareness 
3.1A Organisations should make it easy for 
individuals to complain by providing different 
channels through which they can make a complaint. 
 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice. 

3.1B Organisations must consider their duties under 
the Equality Act 2010 and anticipate the needs and 
reasonable adjustments of individuals who may need 
to access the complaints process. 

Partly This appears to be in line with 
current practice although clear 
guidance would be helpful. 

Page 46



25 
 

Code section Compliance? Comments 
3.2 Individuals should be able to raise their 
complaints in any way and with any member of staff. 
All staff should be aware of the complaints process 
and be able to pass details of the complaint to the 
appropriate person within the organisation. 

Partly This is in line with current 
practice, but staff members 
may need reminders. 

3.3 High volumes of complaints should not be seen 
as a negative, as they can be indicative of a well-
publicised and accessible complaints process. Low 
complaint volumes are potentially a sign that 
individuals are unable to complain. 

Yes This is communicated in 
current performance reporting. 

3.4 Organisations should make their complaint policy 
available in a clear and accessible format.  

Yes This is in line with current 
practice although an update is 
required. 

3.5 The policy should include details about the 
Ombudsman and the Code. 

Yes This is in the current procedure 
and when updated will remain. 

3.6 Organisations should give individuals 
the opportunity to have a suitable representative deal 
with their complaint on their behalf, and to be 
represented or accompanied at any meeting with the 
organisation. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice. 

3.7 Organisations should provide individuals with 
information on their right to access the Ombudsman 
service. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice. 

3.8 Where an organisation asks for feedback 
about its services through a survey, it should provide 
details of how individuals can complain. 

No This is a significant additional 
requirement and may generate 
complaints. 

4. Complaint handling resources 
4.1 Organisations should have designated, 
sufficient resource assigned to take responsibility for 
complaint handling, including liaison with the relevant 
Ombudsman and ensuring complaints 
are reported to the governing body (or equivalent). 

Unclear Clarification of the 
Ombudsman’s expectation of 
‘sufficient’ would be helpful. 

4.2 Anyone responding to a complaint should have 
access to staff at all levels to facilitate the prompt 
resolution of complaints. They should also have the 
authority and autonomy to act to resolve disputes 
promptly and fairly. 

Yes Staff at all levels are engaged 
in the complaint process. 

4.3 Organisations are expected to prioritise 
complaint handling and a culture of learning from 
complaints. All relevant staff should be suitably 
trained in the importance of complaint handling. It is 
important that complaints are seen as a core service 
and resourced accordingly 

No A training programme will need 
to be implemented. 

5. The complaint handling process 
5.1 Organisations should have a single policy for 
dealing with complaints covered by the Code. 

Yes This is current practice 
although the existing policy will 
need updating. 

5.2 Organisations should not have extra named 
stages (such as ‘stage 0’ or ‘informal complaint’) as 
this causes unnecessary confusion. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice. 

5.3 When an individual expresses dissatisfaction that 
could meet the criteria for a complaint as set out in 
section 1 of the Code, they should be given the 
opportunity to make a complaint. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice, but a review is 
recommended in line with IT 
system changes. 

5.4 The person responding to the complaint should: 
• clarify with the individual any aspects of the 

complaint they are unclear about; 

Yes This is in line with current good 
practice but will need to be 
included in staff training. 

Page 47



26 
 

Code section Compliance? Comments 
• deal with complaints on their merits, act 

independently, and have an open mind; 
• give the individual a fair chance to set out their 

position; 
• take measures to address any actual or 

perceived conflict of interest; and 
• consider all relevant information and evidence 

carefully. 
5.5 Where a response to a complaint will fall outside 
the timescales set out in this Code the organisation 
should inform the individual of when the response will 
be provided and the reason(s) for the delay. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice, but a review is 
recommended due to limited 
staff capacity. 

5.6 Organisations should keep a record of any 
reasonable adjustments agreed. Any agreed 
reasonable adjustments should be kept under active 
review. 

No The current IT system does not 
allow this recording. This is a 
new requirement. 

5.7 Organisations should not refuse to escalate a 
complaint through all stages of the complaints 
procedure unless there are valid reasons to do so. 
Organisations should clearly set out these reasons, 
and they should align with the approach to exclusions 
set out in section 2 of the Code. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice. 

5.8 A full record should be kept of the complaint, and 
the outcomes at each stage. This should include the 
original complaint and the date received, all 
correspondence with the individual, correspondence 
with other parties, and any relevant supporting 
documentation such as reports. This should be 
retained in line with the organisation’s data retention 
policies. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice. 

5.9 and 6.10 Organisations should have systems in 
place to ensure that a complaint can be remedied at 
any stage of its complaints process. Individuals 
should not have to escalate a complaint in order to 
get an appropriate remedy. 

Partly Recommended for review. 

5.10 and 5.11 Organisations should have policies and 
procedures in place for managing unacceptable 
behaviour from individuals and/or their 
representatives. Organisations should be able to 
evidence reasons for putting any restrictions in place 
and should keep an individual’s restrictions under 
regular review. Restrictions should be proportionate 
and have regard for the Equalities Act 2010. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice. 

6. Complaints stages 
6.1 Organisations should have processes in place to 
consider which complaints can be responded to as 
early as possible, and which require 
further consideration. Organisations should consider 
factors such as the complexity of the complaint and 
whether the individual is vulnerable or at risk. Most 
stage 1 complaints can be resolved promptly, and an 
explanation, apology or resolution provided to the 
individual. 

Partly The challenge is achieving any 
resolution or prioritisation 
consistently across service 
areas. 

6.2 Complaints should be acknowledged and logged 
at stage 1 of the complaints procedure within five 
working days of the complaint being received. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice. 

Page 48



27 
 

Code section Compliance? Comments 
6.3 Organisations should provide a full response to 
stage 1 complaints within 10 working days of the 
complaint being acknowledged. 

No This is a new requirement and 
significant timescale change. 

6.4 and 6.5 Any extension should be no more than 10 
working days without good reason, and the reason(s) 
should be clearly explained to the individual. When 
an organisation informs an individual about an 
extension to these timescales, they should be 
provided with the details of the relevant Ombudsman. 

No This is a new requirement. 

6.6 A complaint response should be provided to the 
individual when the answer to the complaint is known, 
not when the outstanding actions required to address 
the issue are completed. Outstanding 
actions should still be tracked and actioned promptly, 
with appropriate updates provided to the individual. 

Partly Responses are provided when 
the answer is known but the 
central team do not have the 
level of resources required 
track and report all actions. 

6.7 Organisations should address all points 
raised in the complaint and provide clear reasons for 
any decisions, referencing the relevant policy, law 
and good practice where appropriate. Organisations 
should be clear which aspects of the complaint they 
are, and are not, responsible for and clarify any areas 
where this is not clear. 

Partly Complaint investigators do not 
always reference relevant 
policies within responses and 
do not always make 
responsibilities clear. 

6.8 At the conclusion of stage 1 organisations 
should provide details of how to escalate the matter 
to stage 2 if the individual is not satisfied with the 
response. 
 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice. 

6.9 Where individuals raise additional complaints 
during stage 1, these should be incorporated into the 
stage 1 response if they are related, and the stage 1 
response has not been provided. Where the stage 1 
response has been provided, the new issues are 
unrelated to the issues already being considered, or it 
would unreasonably delay the response, the new 
issues should be logged as a new complaint. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice. 

6.11 If all or part of the complaint is not resolved to 
the individual’s satisfaction at stage 1, it should be 
progressed to stage 2 of the organisation’s 
procedure. Stage 2 is the organisation’s final 
response. 

Yes The current way of working is 
largely in line with this but this 
could lead to increases in 
stage 2 requests. 

6.12 Requests for stage 2 should be acknowledged 
and logged at stage 2 of the complaints procedure 
within five working days of the escalation request 
being received. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice although demand is 
currently exceeding staff 
capacity and delays are 
occurring as a result. 

6.13 Individuals should not be required to explain 
their reasons for requesting a stage 2 consideration. 
Organisations should make reasonable efforts to 
understand why an individual remains unhappy as 
part of its stage 2 response. 

No This is a new requirement. 

6.14 The person considering the complaint at stage 2 
should not be the same person that considered the 
complaint at stage 1. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice. 

6.15 Organisations should issue a final response to 
the stage 2 within 20 working days of the complaint 
being acknowledged. 

No This is a new requirement. 

Page 49



28 
 

Code section Compliance? Comments 
6.16 Any extension should be no more than 20 
working days without good reason, and the reason(s) 
should be clearly explained to the individual. 

No This is a new requirement 
although stage 2 responses 
would not usually exceed 40 
days. 

6.18 and 6.19 Organisations should confirm the 
following in writing to the individual at the completion 
of stage 2 in clear, plain language: 
• the complaint stage; 
• the organisation’s understanding of the complaint; 
• the decision on the complaint; 
• the reasons for any decisions made; 
• details of any remedy offered to put things right; 
• details of any outstanding actions; and 
• details of how to escalate the matter to the 

Ombudsman if the individual remains dissatisfied. 
Stage 2 should be the organisation’s final response 
and should involve all suitable staff members needed 
to issue such a response. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice. 

6.21 Where an organisation’s complaint response is 
handled by a third party (e.g. a contractor) or 
independent adjudicator at any stage, it should form 
part of the two stage complaints process set out in 
this Code. Individuals should not be expected to go 
through two complaints processes. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice. 

6.22 Organisations are responsible for ensuring that 
any third parties handle complaints in line with the 
Code. 

No Activity will be required to 
communicate new expectations 
and monitor compliance. 

7. Putting things right 
7.1 Where something has gone wrong an 
organisation should acknowledge this and set out the 
actions it has already taken, or intends to take, to put 
things right. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice. 

7.2 and 7.3 Any remedy offered should reflect the 
impact on the individual as a result of any fault 
identified. The remedy offer should clearly set out 
what will happen and by when and be followed 
through to completion. 

No This is a new requirement and 
require significant change 
including IT system changes. 

7.4 and 7.5 If a proposed remedy cannot be delivered 
the individual should be informed of the reasons for 
this, provided with details of any alternative remedy 
and reminded of their right to complain to the 
Ombudsman. Organisations should take account of 
the good practice guides when deciding on 
appropriate remedies. 

No Shropshire Council will need to 
undertake work to develop a 
local policy/procedure in 
relation to remedies and 
develop resources to assist 
complaints investigators in 
identifying remedies. 

8. Performance reporting and self-assessment 
8.1 Organisations should produce an annual 
complaints performance and service improvement 
report for scrutiny.  

Yes Changes to the annual report 
have been incorporated. 

• an annual self-assessment against this Code to 
ensure its complaint handling policy remains in 
line with its requirements. 

Yes This self-assessment 

• a qualitative and quantitative analysis of the 
organisation’s complaint handling performance. 
This should also include a summary of the types 
of complaints the organisation has refused to 
accept; 

Yes Included within this report 

• any findings of non-compliance with this Code; Partly  

Page 50



29 
 

Code section Compliance? Comments 
• the service improvements made as a result of the 

learning from complaints; 
No Limited examples only. 

• the annual letter about the organisation’s 
performance from the Ombudsman; 

Yes Included as Appendix 1 

• any other relevant reports or publications 
produced by the Ombudsman in relation to the 
work of the organisation. 

Yes Not applicable – no reports 
from the Ombudsman. 

8.2 The annual complaints performance and service 
improvement report should be reported through the 
organisation’s governance arrangements and 
published on the section of its website relating 
to complaints. The response to the report from the 
relevant governance arrangement should be 
published alongside this. 

Yes This is in line with current 
practice other than publishing 
the response to the report 
within the report on the 
complaints webpages. 

8.3 Organisations should also carry out a self-
assessment following a significant restructure, 
merger and/or change in procedures. 

Partly The self-assessment is 
produced but significant work is 
required. 

9. Scrutiny & oversight: continuous learning and improvement 
9.1 Organisations should look beyond the 
circumstances of the individual complaint and 
consider whether service improvements can be made 
as a result of any learning from the complaint. 

Mixed This is hard to assess for the 
whole organisation and varies 
service to service. 

9.2 A positive complaint handling culture is important 
to the effectiveness with which organisations resolve 
disputes. Organisations should use complaints as a 
source of intelligence to identify issues and introduce 
positive changes in service delivery. 

No The complaints handling 
culture is not positive at 
present and requires 
improvement. 

9.3 Organisations should report back on wider 
learning and improvements from complaints to 
stakeholders, such as citizens’ panels, staff and 
relevant committees. 

No Complaints reports were 
previously shared with the 
Making it Real Board but there 
are no current arrangements. 

9.4 The organisation should appoint a suitably senior 
person to oversee its complaint handling 
performance. This person should assess any themes 
or trends to identify potential systemic issues, serious 
risks, or policies and procedures that require revision. 

Yes The Complaints Monitoring 
Officer is a senior role. The 
Complaints Manager role may 
need review following 
organisational changes. 

9.5, 9.6 and 9.7 The ‘Member responsible for 
complaints’ should receive regular information on 
complaints performance (including the annual report) 
and have access to staff. As a minimum, the Member 
should receive: 
• regular updates on the volume, categories, and 

outcomes of complaints, alongside complaint 
handling performance 

• regular reviews of issues and trends arising from 
complaint handling; and 

• the annual complaints performance and service 
improvement report. 

Yes Reporting to the lead member 
is in place and quarterly reports 
have been/will be provided. 

9.8 Organisations should have a standard objective in 
relation to complaint handling for all relevant 
employees or third parties (includes taking 
responsibility, collaboration across departments and 
acting within professional standards). 

Partly Complaint handling is referred 
to within job description 
templates for managers 
referred to within model 
contracts for third party 
providers. 

 
  

Page 51



30 
 

14. Recommendations 
 

 
The following recommendations for the year ahead are designed to allow for ongoing improvement 
in the application of Shropshire Council’s complaints procedures and in the work of Shropshire 
Council to obtain and respond to customer feedback. The recommendations also cover work 
towards implementation of the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s complaint 
handling code although a more detailed implementation plan will be required should Cabinet 
decide to meet all recommendations for April 2026. It should be noted that recommendations will 
require resourcing and cannot be delivered within the existing level of resources allocated to 
complaints handling. 
 
1. Provide a more detailed report covering the LGSCO Complaint Handling Code: Due to 

the resource implications of the new Code, a more detailed report and action plan may need to 
be presented to Shropshire Council’s Leadership Board (delivery dependent on a Cabinet 
decision in July 2025). This should include information on the current pressures and challenges 
facing the Feedback and Insight Team. 
 

2. Review Shropshire Council’s corporate complaints procedure: Regardless of the 
Ombudsman Code decision there is a need to review Shropshire Council’s corporate 
complaints procedure to strengthen the sections on exclusions, remedies and reasonable 
adjustments. 

 
3. Develop guidance on remedies: There is a growing expectation by the Local Government 

and Social care Ombudsman that more complaints should be remedied at the local level and 
that all local authorities should have a local remedies policy in line with the national document 
provided by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman. 

 
4. Develop guidance on reasonable adjustments: Complaints work in 2024/25 has highlighted 

that there is a need to remind all staff of their responsibilities to offer reasonable adjustments. 
Recording and reporting of the reasonable adjustments offered as part of the complaints 
process will also be required. 

 
5. Third Party Complaints: As part of Shropshire Council’s response to the Ombudsman’s 

Code, consideration will need to be given concerning complaint handling arrangements with 
third party providers and how additional training and actions could be resourced. ‘Managing 
complaints in contracted and commissioned services: a good practice guide’ has been 
produced by the Ombudsman for local implementation. 

 
6. Staff Training and Feedback Culture: Foster a positive complaint handling culture among 

staff and individuals, as envisioned by the Ombudsman's Code, to encourage constructive 
feedback and learning from complaints. Implement staff training and remind staff to also report 
formal feedback centrally so that Shropshire Council has a view of both positive feedback and 
complaints. 

 
7. Engagement and Surveys: The Ombudsman has included a request within the Code for local 

authorities to report back on wider learning and improvements from complaints to stakeholders, 
such as citizens’ panels, staff and relevant committees. It also asks that service feedback 
surveys provide details of how individuals can complain. Shropshire Council will need to 
consider how these new requirements may be resourced and implemented. 

 
8. Focus on service request responses: Too many cases are being raised as complaints rather 

than addressed as service requests. Shropshire Council needs to adopt a focus on resolving 
requests for services promptly as a way of reducing the number of complaints received by the 
organisation. It should also be noted that the Ombudsman’s Code recommends new reporting 
of service request data. Input of Customer Services will be required. 

Page 52



31 
 

 
9. Focus on Response Quality:  Without significant change the Feedback and Insight Team is 

not large enough to quality check all complaints and checks should not be required if all 
complaints investigators are committed to producing good quality stage 1 responses. Work is 
recommended to find ways of improving quality. Investigators will need to be reminded of the 
importance of referring to policies, law, good practice and ensuring clear communication 
relating to responsibilities. 
 

10. Continue to Focus on Response Times: Continue efforts to reduce the average response 
time for stage 1 complaints and significantly reduce the number of complaints being responded 
to out of timescale (this will be more challenging if a decision is made to implement the shorter 
timescales set out within the Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling Code). 

 
11. Complaint Progression: A focus should be on trying to reverse the annual increases in the 

proportion of complaints escalating beyond stage 1. Stage 2 complaints have increased 
significantly in the last year. This focus will link to quality and remedies. 
 

12. Complaint Prioritisation: Currently there is little evidence that complaints are prioritised 
against other cases or against each other depending on complexity, urgency and impact. All 
service areas are asked to consider the suggestion by the Ombudsman that prioritisation is 
necessary and design a system appropriate to the service (a blanket council-wide approach 
would be exceptionally challenging due to the significant differences in requirements, statutory 
functions, pressures and levels of resources across the organisation). 

 
13. Learning and actions: The evidencing of learning and actions within complaint responses has 

reduced. This is only in part due to a reduction in upheld complaints in the last 12 months and 
as a whole it remains a concern, particularly because it leads to a lack of data to demonstrate 
how learning from complaints is used to deliver improvement and prevent repeated customer 
dissatisfaction. From 2026 annual reports should clearly identify the service improvements 
made as a result of the learning from complaints. 

 
14. Implementation of new national performance measures: Regardless of the decision taken 

concerning the implementation of the Complaint Handling Code it is recommended that the 
Ombudsman’s proposed complaint performance measures should be implemented. This does 
not require significant additional resource allocation and will allow improved benchmarking with 
other local authorities (previously only possible for the Ombudsman stage of the complaints 
process). 
 

15. New structures: Shropshire Council’s complaints system does not currently allow reporting 
against new council structures. Significant work is required to ensure quarterly data and 
2025/26 annual data is aligned to new structures and enables appropriate team and service 
area reporting. 

 
16. Changing Customer Behaviours: Although use of the Unreasonably Persistent and 

Vexatious Customers Procedure has increased, this in itself, does not resolve the growing 
trend of customer harassment and abuse towards members of staff and its impact. A more 
strategic cross-council approach is recommended to review and respond to this growing issue. 

 
 

 

  

Page 53



32 
 

Appendix 1 Ombudsman Letter 2024/25 
 
 
21 May 2025 
 
By email 
 
Mr Begley 
Chief Executive 
Shropshire Council 
 
Dear Mr Begley 
 
Annual Review letter 2024-25 
 

I write to you with your annual summary of complaint statistics from the Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman for the year ending 31 March 2025. The information offers valuable 
insight about your organisation’s approach to complaints, and I know you will consider it as part of 
your corporate governance processes. We have listened to your feedback, and I am pleased to be 
able to share your annual statistics earlier in the year to better fit with local reporting cycles. I hope 
this proves helpful to you. 
 
Your annual statistics are available here. 
 
In addition, you can find the detail of the decisions we have made about your Council, read the 
public reports we have issued, and view the service improvements your Council has agreed to 
make as a result of our investigations, as well as previous annual review letters. 
 
In a change to our approach, we will write to organisations in July where there is exceptional 
practice or where we have concerns about an organisation’s complaint handling. Not all 
organisations will get a letter. If you do receive a letter it will be sent in advance of its publication on 
our website on 16 July 2025, alongside our annual Review of Local Government Complaints. 
 
Supporting complaint and service improvement 
 
In February we published good practice guides to support councils to adopt our Complaint 
Handling Code. The guides were developed in consultation with councils that have been piloting 
the Code and are based on the real-life, front-line experience of people handling complaints day-
to-day, including their experience of reporting to senior leaders and elected members. The guides 
were issued alongside free training resources organisations can use to make sure front-line staff 
understand what to do when someone raises a complaint. We will be applying the Code in our 
casework from April 2026 and we know a large number of councils have already adopted it into 
their local policies with positive results. 
 
This year we relaunched our popular complaint handling training programme. The training is now 
more interactive than ever, providing delegates with an opportunity to consider a complaint from 
receipt to resolution. Early feedback has been extremely positive with delegates reporting an 
increase in confidence in handling complaints after completing the training. To find out more 
contact training@lgo.org.uk. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
Amerdeep Somal 
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
Chair, Commission for Local Administration in England 

Page 54

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance/shropshire-council/statistics/
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/information-for-organisations-we-investigate/councils/guidance-notes/
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/information-for-organisations-we-investigate/complaint-handling-code/complaint-handling-code
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/information-for-organisations-we-investigate/complaint-handling-code/complaint-handling-code
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/information-for-organisations-we-investigate/free-resources/resources-for-councils-and-other-local-authority-bodies
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/information-for-organisations-we-investigate/training
https://shropshirecouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/CFC/PP/Quarterly%20analysis/2024-25/Annual%20data/training@lgo.org.uk


33 
 

 

 

 

 
Page 55



34 
 

Appendix 2 Ombudsman Recommendations 2024/25 
 
This table covers complaints that were upheld by the Ombudsman during 2024/25. 
 

Category  
Decided 
date 

Ombudsman recommendation Agreed action Completed 
date 

Education & 
Children’s Services 06/08/2024 

Apology, Financial redress: Avoidable 
distress/time and trouble, Financial 
redress: Loss of service 

An apology was provided for the delay in completing the EHCP 
annual review and a failure to provide suitable education and speech 
and language therapy. A payment was made with the apology and the 
council also agreed to backdate the child’s personal budget to cover 
the cost of lost speech and language therapy support. 

15/10/2024 

Adult Care Services 21/06/2024 

Apology An apology was provided as a result of fault in the information 
provided in relation to the provision of personal care. Action had 
already been taken to remedy the injustice in advance of the 
Ombudsman concluding its investigation. 

27/06/2024 

Planning & 
Development 07/11/2024 

Apology The Ombudsman found that there was fault in council process and 
that a complaint should have been progressed rather than an ongoing 
planning enforcement case. An apology was issued. 

19/11/2024 

Education & 
Children’s Services 15/08/2024 

Financial redress: Avoidable distress/time 
and trouble, Financial redress: Loss of 
service, Provide training and/or guidance 

Actions included an apology with payment for time and trouble, a 
payment for the loss of education provision and the issuing of a 
reminder to staff that the statutory duty to provide suitable alternative 
educational provision under Section 19 remains with the council 
regardless of arrangements with third parties. 

03/10/2024 

Highways & 
Transport 19/07/2024 

Apology The Ombudsman found that Shropshire Council had already 
remedied the delay in responding to a request for local parking 
restrictions through an apology. No further action was required.  

19/07/2024 

Education & 
Children’s Services 17/12/2024 

Apology, New appeal/review or 
reconsidered decision 

An apology and payment were issued due to delays in arranging 
respite care and use of the wrong complaint procedure. A review of 
support was put in place and the complaint remedied. 

02/04/2025 

Adult Care Services 27/03/2025 

Apology There were failings in the domiciliary care provided, which the care 
agency acknowledged and dealt with through an apology. The 
Ombudsman was satisfied that an apology had been made and no 
further action was required. 

27/03/2025 

Adult Care Services 10/01/2025 

Apology, Financial Redress: Quantifiable 
Loss 

A mistake was made in the financial calculations. The Ombudsman 
found this had not led to any significant personal injustice. An apology 
was made with a small payment adjustment to correct the error. 

16/01/2025 

Education & 
Children’s Services 20/02/2025 

Apology, Financial redress: Avoidable 
distress/time and trouble, Provide services 
to person affected 

An apology was made for the delay in the council’s response to an 
independent stage 2 statutory children’s complaint. A payment was 
made for time and trouble. 

27/03/2025 

 

P
age 56



Transformation and Improvement Overview and Scrutiny Committee High-Level Work Programme – 2025/2026 

Date Topic  Responsible 
Officer 

All Member 
Teams 
Briefing  

Task and 
Finish 
Group 

Report to 
committee 

Previous 
topic of 
review - an 
update 
against the 
action plan  

Sept 2025 Artificial Intelligence (AI) Billy Webster / 
David Baker  

 
12 Sept 2025 

   

Sept 2025 Annual Customer Feedback report Tim Collard / Barry 
Hanson / Sarah 
Dodds  

   
 

 

Sept 2025 Financial Monitoring Report Quarter 1 2025/26   James Walton     

Sept 2025 Performance Monitoring Report Quarter 1 
2025/26  

Billy Webster     

Sept 2025 Financial Monitoring Period 4    James Walton      

Sept 2025 Strategic Partnership working – incl. town and 
parish council engagement  

Billy Webster   
 

  

Sept 2025 Review of Scrutiny  Tim Collard / Tom 
Dodds  

  
 

 
 

 

Sept 2025 CIL dispersion  Edward West   
 

 
 

 

Sept 2025 Shirehall  Steve Law   
 

  

Sept 2025 North West Relief Road  Andy Wilde   
 

 
 

 

Nov 2025 Financial Monitoring Report Quarter 2 2025/26   James Walton      

Nov 2025 Performance Monitoring Report Quarter 2 
2025/26    

tbc     

Nov 2025 Draft Financial Strategy 2026/27 - 2030/31  James Walton      

Nov 2025 Staff Bullying and Harassment Sam Collins-
Lafferty 

    
 

Dec 2025 Collaborative Budget / Budget Forum ? James Walton      
Feb 2026 Financial Monitoring Report Quarter 3 2025/26 James Walton      

Feb 2026 Performance Monitoring Report Quarter 3 
2025/26  

James Walton      

 

P
age 57

A
genda Item

 10



Transformation and Improvement Overview and Scrutiny Committee High-Level Work Programme – 2025/2026 

Other identified areas of interest from Committee discussions, including topics for briefings: 

Financial and Performance Monitoring of Adults and Children’s 

services  

Medium Term Priority 

Use of consultants  Longer Term Priority 

 

P
age 58


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	9 Annual Customer Feedback (complaints) Report
	Annual Customer Feedback Report 2024/25
	1. Synopsis
	2. Executive Summary
	3. Officer Recommendations
	Report
	4. Financial Implications
	5. Climate Change Appraisal
	6. Background
	7. Performance
	8. Ombudsman Data and Benchmarking
	9. Reporting and Member Roles
	10. Conclusions
	11. Recommendations

	Appendix 1 Customer Feedback Annual Report 2024-25

	10 Work Programme

